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Characteristics of The Growth Enterprise Market (“"GEM") of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate companies to which a high investment risk may be attached
than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in
such companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration. The greater risk profile and
other characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market more suited to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible

to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in
the securities traded on GEM.

BEBBEXSZMAERAR ((RXB/H]) AIERTE ([RIXEKR]) HEe

ﬁé‘J%WE‘DETﬁ'B%KthtE@EﬂSQ%FﬁiF‘ﬁE’U“ﬂ%ﬁ@%‘&ﬁﬂﬁ MARRK—ELTHNTS - EEREMNATEBRBRENZSE
REWEERR  UERLBREFFNZERSTELRERTE - IERNBEEAREEAMBEXRTAERBESEELABEREETNR

MREIER ETNARBHEME  FAXREENESFTREREXIMIREENBSFAZTRANT S KBDAR - AR EERELT
EREENESFGARMBENT o



12

20

23

‘(;"i;‘-—'

Contents B £

ITE (Holdings) Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2010-2011 3

CORPORATE STRUCTURE A T22#&

CORPORATE REVIEW ‘2 T][E]Ed

Chairman’s Statement

TREE

Management Discussion and Analysis

EEBHHEHN

Corporate Governance Report
EERRSE

Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management

ExkalBEERE

Directors’ Report

Exews

31

33

34

35

36

37

39

95

FINANCIAL REPORT Bf # &

Independent Auditor’s Report
BB RS

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
mermEmkER

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

RAaMBHIRER

Company Statement of Financial Position

RA BN

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
BAEREDE

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

o A TH A B
%m@fﬁimbii‘%

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

IR MR

Five Year Summary

hEHE

CORPORATE INFORMATION
ERER

ANNUAL REPORT 2010-2011 & 1



N
\
\
\
\
j

7~ Corporate Structure
NI

Rax-Comm (BVI)
Limited

ITE (Holdings)
Limited

Investment Holding

REZER

ITE (BVI) Limited

Investment Holding

REZR

100%

o
o
x

o =} o
S S S
° ° ° °
3 N S S

100%

2 ITE (Holdings) Limited



1997

Corporate Review

e Establishment of the Group
o AREMEA L

1998

¢ Development of technologies and applications
o Fig K FE AR B

1999

e Launched hardware products for smartcard system under
the trademark of "HOMAC"
e Awarded with important smartcard and RFID projects in Hong Kong
* LLTHOMAC | Wit iE B Lt B F AR EANERER
s REBIUSZEERE R FRAEHAITE

2000

e Winning of 2000 HK Industry Award
s IS=ZTTHFRBIHER

2001

e Listing on The Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong

Kong Limited

e Establishment of wholly owned PRC subsidiary: ITE (China) Limited in
Shanghai

e Winning of 2001 HK Industry Award

e Acquisition of leading IT System Integrator, Quesco Holdings Limited and
Quesco Systems Limited on 7 December 2001

s NEBHAREMARARRIZERTS LD

e RHPEl LBRIZ2EMBAR @ LB KERAGERAT

s E=ZT—FHEBIER
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e Accreditation of ISO 9001:2000 Quality Assurance System
e Launched new ISO15693 product series and solutions
Patent filing of ISO15693 based Smart Key Management
System (SKMS) accepted by the State Intellectual Property
Office of the People’s Republic of China

Awarded with the first ISO15693 Smartlabel project in Hong
Kong

Strategic Business Agreement signed with Shanghai Public
Traffic Card Company Limited (SPTCC) for the provision of
value-added solutions and services to its user community
Entered into distributor agreement with Texas Instruments
for marketing, sales and support of its product ranges
Became the sub-issuer of MULTOS

Receiving of Caring Company Award

E{51SO 9001:20007 B EIR A FAH
HEH—FFIISO15693F MR MARA R

LAUSO15693 A E MM SR E R RS EF R FEPEER
HAERRENDZE
RISABEIEISO15693 8B ALK L2
HESARTBRROBRAREIRBMETG R REAFE
RS ERRS RRRHB

HEEREMNER ARSI IR - REHERFEE  HER
*&E

* MAMULTOSHIE (TR

c BIEBMAREEI SR

e Geographical expansion into Macao

e Appointed as an international channel partner of Transcore,
LP

e Patent filing of Automated Passenger Management System
(APMS) accepted by the State Intellectual Property Office of
the People’s Republic of China

e Accredited as one of the fastest growing technology
companies by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu in the “2003 Asia
Pacific Technology Fast 500"

o EBRIMREIRM

& Transcore, LP ZEBBIFFAH

c HREABREERGEFNRBFEFEARNBERESEF
RXRE

s Y BERFSHMTHEAS-_EZAMESRES
FR50038 | REEHATIER
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Corporate Review
NIIEI

e Establishment of ITE Sistema (Macau) Limitada

e Contract award of the Macao SAR Customs Services “Automated Vehicle
Clearance System” & Public Security Forces Affairs Bureau “Automated
Passenger Clearance System”

e Successfully completed the ISO 9001:2000 Quality Assurance System Audit

e Awarded the Caring Company by The Hong Kong Council of Social Service

o B BERL (RFY) BROF

* BIVEEUEMERITHRESHE [EHABERAR IR
REZBEEHR [REEBBEAZRS | T2

* MIUZTRLISO 9001: 2000 FFEE R E B EE RS E

o BEMFENEBRAREZE]ZE

e Winning of “Hong Kong Awards For Industries 2005 — Machinery and

Equipment Design Award” for Automated Passenger Management System
("APMS™)

e Awarded of Computer Registration Management System of the Construction
Worker Registration Authority, HKSAR

e QSL passed the ISO 9001:2000 Quality Assurance System

e Successfully completed the Hong Kong Marathon 2005

¢ Joined “Give Blood Give Live” — Blood Donation Day for the Hong Kong Red
Cross Blood Transfusion Service

o [IMEBHBHAK | XE_STRRBIRES — HESRBERFE

s BEGZEXET AZMERRNEMLIMEBRRGNENIRE

o FERIFERIBIBISO 9001:20007 B #2E R L NHEZ

* BN AR E B B HIHA2005

e BUOBHEBLA+FERMTE

e Official launch of Computer Registration Management System of the
Construction Worker Registration Authority, HKSAR
e Overseas expansion in Middle East and Southeast Asia

e Establishment of Intellectual Property Rights Centre

e ITE Smartcard Solutions Ltd. implemented the first Automated Passenger
Clearance System (“APCS") of the Public Security Forces Services Bureau,
Macao SAR at the Barrier Gate Checkpoint

e |TE and Quesco staff completed the Hong Kong Marathon 2006

e ITE and Quesco received the “Caring Company Logo” by The Hong Kong
Council of Social Welfare for four years and two years respectively

o Successfully completed Exhibition in “IT Week 2005" Macao

e The ITE Smart Key Management System Patent was successfully granted by
State Intellectual Property Office of the People’s Republic of China

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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o B AR ERER O

o EFEBIITHERZIEEREN [ BBBERSK | MR R
SR ERMBIR R E IS EEE

s BERENEIRINTHREEFRIA2006

o BENBEAFREREEFEE [ BRERIE]ER

o BRI AR [EHRHRE2005 ] RE

s BERWERFEARKNBERANABEER BXEEEE
MEE RS | EF

¢ Winning of “Hong Kong Awards For Industries 2007 — Machinery
and Equipment Design Award Certificate of Merit” for “Wireless
Smartcard Transaction Controller featuring Bluetooth technology”

e Official Launch of Extension of Macao Automated Passenger
Management System (“APMS")

e Granting of Research Funding by Innovation and Technology
Commission of HK to RF Tech Ltd.

e Forming Strategic Partnership with Macao Pass Card

e New Trademark and Logo for RF Tech Ltd.’s Software Product
Series (“intelli”)

e Granting of the First U.S. Design Patent by the United States
Patent and Trademark Office to RF Tech Ltd.

o [FEAEFEGRMNERFRGEHR I RKE_STtFEET
P — W RRERET IR

o EXEHIRFIRE BENBEEERS (APMS]) WIBR RS

* RF Tech Ltd. B{ZhERE BRIFRR BNAN R MEES

o B2 [RPYE | AR RIS ER T

o [lintelli | ZEfBELARF Tech Lid 8 E R R EERIEH

 RF Tech Ltd. {INEREE SR ERF 1 B RTER




e Become the regional channel partner of the world leading smartcard and digital
security company, Gemalto SA

e Completion of the first Innovation and Technology Commission funded research and
development project, Embedded Computer Vision Escalator Passenger Monitor, together
with a PCT patent filed

e Delivery of the first multi-applications smartcard system built on MacaoPass Card for
a luxury real estate complex in Macao

e Completion of a sophisticated equipment asset management system for the Macao
Prison using RFID technologies

e Completion of the first smartcard driven passage management and access control
system for the Lingnan University

e Collaboration with the Hong Kong Polytechnic University through the first technology
transfer and licensing arrangement for a digital security product

o B2 IREEEF R HIB LR EM BB E U A Gemalto SABE S1ER M5

CHEEBAFNEEBEESEYNER —[HMAXTERREFBARERERE
B |- BRI » B BER SR R BRI SR

° BB RN EEENRPIBE 2 IR RSNSIEEETER

° AN AP B B R IR E NSRBI E B AL

e AEFABRUEEEEFBERMIZEAR

e BEBET ABHESE  BBRNESEREBZRER

e Delivery of the first campus smartcard system based on Macau Pass Card for Macao
Pui Ching Middle School

e Partnering with Canon Hong Kong for the development of Macau Pass Card driven
e-payment solution for their photocopiers

e System migration from contact to contactless smartcards for The Chinese University
of Hong Kong

¢ Award of hospital-wide access control system contracts for Queen Elizabeth Hospital,
Grantham Hospital, The Duchess of Kent Children’s Hospital and Tung Wah Hospital

e Award of contract for the provision of computer personnel services for the Hong
Kong Hospital Authority

e Completion of Exhibition in “CARTES in Asia”

° I ARPUEEPERBRINENEFIBFIRBESEFZER

o B CanonfEREE B AR A B RMEE - MUMEERN NRFIE ] FEARETH
SR RITEEBF BN BRS
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Corporate Review
NGIIEI=S

e Collaboration with Automotive Parts and Accessory Systems R&D
Centre (“APAS") for development of Electric Vehicle Fast Charging
Station with Professional E-payment System, and completion of
exhibitions in various regions.

e Expand collaboration with Canon Hong Kong for development
of Octopus Card driven e-payment solutions for their document
management systems.

e Delivery of the first multi-applications payment solution based on
MacauPass Card for the Macao Institute for Tourism Studies.

e Development of the first active-RFID based track and trace
application for Macao law enforcement government department.

o Launch of the World's 1st Dual Frequency RFID guard tour reader
with Bluetooth connectivity

o BB EIMHMAERBREPOVEE  BREAEXESFRERS
ZEHEREZEL  TESEALENRESRL

° ECanonfEREEBBMARBEREF - RUBBER[/UEEB]F
FERARETHZ YRR RITORE T EBRS

° I ARPIREERBEE RN EEER DRPIE | SR FHZ
BEBFHERS

o HRMBEBUTE PR EBERB RAER B M N ENLRE

o BRI EMEIAGHEM B FIRIKESS
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FEHRE

ITE Smartcard Solutions Limited (“ITES”) continues to provide
products and services to our new and existing clients

EEZRBRA ] ([ EFEZR]) BB EEFRFEEEE

aa K AR 7%

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board (the “Board”) of Directors (the “Directors”),
| hereby present the annual results for ITE (Holdings) Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, “ITE” or the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 March 2011 (the “Year”).

Mission

The mission of the Group is to become the leading smartcard, radio
frequency identification (“RFID"), biometrics product and solution provider
and system integrator in the world. ITE has been pioneering and has
achieved outstanding performance in the areas of smartcard system
solutions and integration services in the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region (“Hong Kong” or “HKSAR"”), the Macao Special Administrative
Region (“Macao”) and the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”). With
profound expertise, strong research and development (“R&D") capability,
proven track record and excellent reputation, the Group has established a
leading profile in our own industry and has adopted a proactive approach
to introduce innovative and customised smartcard, RFID and biometrics
applications to our clients. Leveraging on our extensive industry experience
and intellectual assets, ITE will continue to develop innovative products
and multi-applications solutions for clients coming from different industries
and to expand our businesses to more overseas countries.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Overview

ITE celebrated the Tenth Anniversary of Listing and Fourteenth Anniversary
of Founding in 2011. Since our establishment, we have been focusing
on our core business and technologies, we have been devoting ourselves
towards the long term growth of the Company building on our Innovation,
Technology and Excellency; three words which best explain the name of
ITE. All members of the Company perform under our vision, mission and
set of core values, they have continuously contributed their best effort
to build up for the Group intellectual assets and deliver the professional
services to meet the needs and requirements of changing market. Over
the years of development, ITE did come to a lot of challenges, we have
overcome those difficulties and managed to grow stronger and healthier.
We have maintained our position as a market leader in the smartcard
and RFID industry, we are still the pure rider to provide multi-applications
solution to our customers. Despite that the Group experienced an overall
financial loss performance for the fiscal year 2011, the Directors strongly
believe that those intangible investment in intellectual property rights,
business development and improvement of professionalism can quickly
put the Company back to profitability.

Appreciation
| would like to take this opportunity to express my deepest thanks to my

directors, management and staff for their dedication and hard work, and
shareholders, financiers and business partners for their continual support.

Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent
Chairman

Hong Kong, 20 June 2011
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Management of the Group has continued to utilise our professional and
committed workforce and financial resources to achieve maximum return
to our shareholders.

Business Review
Marketing and Operation

During the Year, our solution and professional services arm, ITE
Smartcard Solutions Limited (“ITES”), was awarded with a number of
new smartcard contracts by clients for the provisions of smartmeter,
e-payment, attendance, access control and passage management systems.
Enhancement and maintenance service orders and purchases of smartcard

products have remained fairly stable.

Despite the loss of a substantive information technology staffing services
contract with the Hong Kong Government, Quesco Systems Limited,
has been awarded with new contracts by the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University, the Hong Kong Trade Development Council and the Hong Kong
Airport Authority for the provision of computer personnel services. The
Directors have also formulated new strategy to build up a new business
line with potential of growth and synergy with other subsidiaries of the
Company.

Our product arm, RF Tech Limited (“RFT”), has developed many new
products including an advanced handheld RFID reader which supports
both low and high frequency tags and features Bluetooth connectivity,
the product was now being tested by a law enforcement client. RFT also
designed and developed a product line of hardware and software for
the requirements of RFID library automation. The technologies deployed
include both high frequency and ultra-high frequency RFID and computer

vision.

The cooperation between ITES and the Automotive Parts and Accessory
Systems R&D Centre (“APAS") for the development of an electric vehicle
fast charging station which would support Octopus Card, MacauPass
Card and commercial used smartcards is giving promising result with the
official launch of product made in June 2011. This is the first research and
development project conducted with the APAS. It represents an important
step of ITE into the sustainable and environment business opportunity.
We strongly believe that there are tremendous opportunities ahead, and
we have laid down a new milestone for ITE's innovation and technology
advance to the future.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Future Prospect

ITE shall continue to build on the expertise, experience and leadership
of our management team which recognizes that growth is critical to
maintaining the Company’s momentum, we shall expand the range of
products and services we offer, this can ensure that we will stay on course
despite any difficult business environment. With the sound foundation
built and better economic outlook in 2011, | look forward to the recovery
of profitability in fiscal year 2012.

Financial Performance

For the year ended 31 March 2011 the Group recorded a total turnover
of approximately HK$23 million, representing a decrease of 57% over last
year. Loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company for the year
ended 31 March 2011 was approximately HK$3.4 million as compared to
profit approximately HK$0.2 million for last year.

Segmental Information

During the year, the Group recorded a decrease in turnover for about
57% when compared with last year. However, the Group’s gross profit
margin has improved from 20% in last year to 28% in current year.

The service revenue generated from core business, i.e. the provision of the
smartcard systems, RFID and information technology (“IT”) services and
related sales, was HK$10,537,140 (2010: HK$10,570,404) which is similar
to that of last year. However, the income from maintenance services was
decreased by 2% to HK$8,851,774 (2010: HK$9,019,586).

For consultancy service segment, because of a major consultancy service
contract ended on 31 October 2009, the turnover decreased significantly
by 89% when compared with last year. The profit margin had also
dropped from 14% to 9%.

With our continual tighter cost control during the severe financial
situation, the Group’s administrative expenses had decreased by 5%.

With our continual working capital improvement, the finance costs
decreased significantly by 78% to HK$86,547 (2010: HK$397,161) for the
year.

S S¥
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Liquidity, Financial Resources and Treasury Policies

The Group generally financed its operations with its internally generated
cash flows and bank borrowings. As at 31 March 2011, the Group had
outstanding borrowings of HK$1,821,100, comprising secured bank loans
of HK$1,000,000 and unsecured bank loans of HK$821,000. As at 31
March 2011, the current ratio of the Group was 2.77 (2010: 1.82) while
the liquidity ratio was 2.53 (2010: 1.71).

The Group continues to adopt a conservative approach towards its
treasury policy. The Group strives to reduce exposure to credit risk by
performing ongoing credit evaluations of the financial condition of its
customers. Besides, the Group’s liquidity and financing arrangements are
also reviewed regularly.

Taking into consideration the banking facilities granted, stringent cost
control and the existing financial resources available to the Group, it is
believed that the Group should have adequate financial resources to meet
its operation, development requirements and investments in the future.

Significant Investments
The Group had no significant investments during the year under review.

Material Acquisitions or Disposals of
Subsidiaries and Affiliated Companies

During the year under review, the Group had no acquisitions and disposals
of subsidiaries and affiliated companies.

Employment Information

The Group recognises that its staff is one of the Group’s most important
assets. Aiming at providing competitive salary packages, the Group
adjusts employees’ salary level in close association with the performance,
qualifications and experience of individual staff as well as labour market
conditions. In addition to the regular remuneration, discretionary bonus
and share options may be awarded to eligible employees with reference
to individual performance and the Group’s business performance.

The Group enjoys good relations with staff and has not experienced any
disruption of operations due to major labour disputes. In addition to
the remuneration as mentioned above, the Group also provides fringe
benefits which comply with the relevant laws and regulations of the PRC
and Hong Kong including contributions to social security scheme of the
PRC and contribution to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme of Hong
Kong. Besides, the Group also provides on-going training programmes for
its employees to keep them abreast of the latest market trends and new
technologies.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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As at 31 March 2011, the Group had 80 (2010: 83) full-time employees,
of which 71 are based in Hong Kong and the rest are in the PRC and
Macao. Staff costs, including directors’ remuneration, was approximately
HK$15 million (2010: HK$43 million) for the year ended 31 March 2011.
During the year, the Company has not granted any share option to any of
its Directors and employees.

Charges on Group Assets

As at 31 March 2011, time deposits of HK$5,816,140 (2010:
HK$17,623,709) was pledged to banks to secure certain banking facilities
of the Group.

Future Plans for Material Investments

The Group did not have any plans for material investment and acquisition
of material capital assets as at 31 March 2011.

Gearing Ratio

At 31 March 2011, the gearing ratio of the Group, which is calculated as
the ratio of total secured bank loans due after one year to shareholders’
funds, was nil (2010: nil).

Exposure to Fluctuations in Exchange Rates and
Related Hedges

The Group’'s assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses are mainly
denominated in HK$, United States dollars (“US$"), Macau Patacas
("MOP") and Renminbi (“RMB"). The exchange rates between HK$, US$,
MOP and RMB have been very steady for the past few years. During the
year, the Group generally used the receipts from customers and bank
loans to pay its suppliers and meet its capital requirements. They are
denominated in the local currency of the place in which the subsidiaries
operate. The Group does not currently engage in hedging to manage
possible exchange rate risk as the Group considers the cost associated
with such hedging arrangements would exceed the benefits. However,
management will continue to monitor the possible exposure to exchange
rate risk and will take such measures as it deems prudent.

Contingent Liability
At 31 March 2011, the Company has issued corporate guarantees to

banks in respect of banking facilities granted to certain wholly owned
subsidiaries.
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The Company is firmly committed to maintaining statutory and regulatory
standards and adherence to the principles of corporate governance
emphasising transparency, independence, accountability, responsibility and
fairness. The Board ensures that effective self-regulatory practices exist to
protect the interests of the shareholders of the Company.

The Company has applied the principles and complied with all the code
provisions as set out in the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the
“Code") contained in Appendix 15 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Growth Enterprises Market of the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “"GEM Listing Rules”) throughout the year ended
31 March 2011, save for the deviations discussed below.

Under the code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer should be separated and should not be performed
by the same individual. The division of responsibilities between the
chairman and chief executive officer should be clearly established and set

out in writing.

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent is both the chairman and chief executive
officer of the Company who is responsible for managing the Board and
the Group’s business. Mr. Lau has been both chairman and chief executive
officer of the Company since its incorporation. The Board considers that,
with the present board structure and scope of business of the Group,
there is no imminent need to separate the roles into two individuals as
Mr. Lau is perfectly capable of distinguishing the priority of these roles
in which he has been acting. However, the Board will continue to review
the effectiveness of the Group’s corporate governance structure to assess
whether the separation of the positions of chairman and chief executive
officer is necessary.

Under the code provision A.4.1 stipulates that non-executive Directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election. Under the
code provision A.4.2 stipulates that all Directors appointed to fill a causal
vacancy should be subject to election by shareholders at the first general
meeting after their appointment, and every Director, including those
appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years.

Under the present articles of association of the Company, Mr. Lau
Hon Kwong Vincent, being chairman and chief executive officer of
the Company, is not subject to retirement by rotation. This is not in
compliance with the Code requirement that every Director must retire by
rotation once every three years.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Besides, the non-executive Directors do not have a specific term of
appointment, but are subject to rotation in accordance with the articles
of association of the Company (that at each annual general meeting,
one-third of the Directors for the time being or, if their number is not a
multiple of three, the number nearest to but not greater than one-third,
shall retire from office) provided that notwithstanding anything herein,
the chairman of the Board and/or the managing director of the Company
shall not, whilst holding such office, be subject to retirement by rotation
or be taken into account in determining the number of Directors to retire
in each year. As such, with the exception of the chairman, all Directors are
subject to retirement by rotation. The management considered that there
is no imminent need to amend the articles of association of the Company.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of dealings as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules throughout the year ended 31 March 2011.
enquiry of all Directors, the Directors have complied with such code of

Having made specific

conduct and the required standard of dealings throughout the year ended
31 March 2011.

Board of Directors and Board Meeting

The Board which currently comprises four executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors, is responsible for the overall
strategic planning and business development of the Group. Details of
the Directors are set in the section “Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management” of this report. All Directors give sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the Group. To the best knowledge of the Board,
there is no financial, business and family relationship among the members
of the Board except that Mr. Liu Hoi Wah is the younger brother of Mr.

Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent.

All independent non-executive Directors, do not have any business or
significant financial interests with the Group and each of them have
confirmed their independence to the Group pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the
GEM Listing Rules. Based on the above-mentioned, the Board considers
that all independent non-executive Directors were independent.

With the various experience of both the executive Directors and the
independent non-executive Directors and the nature of the Group’s
business, the Board considers that the Directors have a balance of skills
and experience for the business of the Group.

.
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The Board meets regularly at least four times a year at approximately
quarterly intervals. Such regular meetings will normally involve the active
participation, either in person or through other electronic means of
communication, of a majority of Directors entitled to be present.

During the year ended 31 March 2011, four board meetings were held
and the following is an attendance record of the meetings by each
Director.

Attendance
Executive Directors
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent 4/4
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung 4/4
Mr. George Roger Manho 3/4
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah 3/4
Independent non-executive Directors
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen 4/4
Mr. Tang Siu, Henry 3/4
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony 3/4

During regular meetings of the Board, the Directors discuss and formulate
the overall strategies of the Group, monitor financial performances and
discuss the annual, interim and quarterly results, as well as discuss and
decide on other significant matters. Execution of daily operational matters
is delegated to management.

Notice of regular board meeting is usually given at least 14 days in
advances to give all Directors an opportunity to attend. An agenda for
each board meeting will be prepared and normally distributed to the
Directors together with necessary board papers and related materials at
least four days before the board meeting. Directors are free to add any
items on the agenda as they may think fit. The Company Secretary is
responsible for recording the matters considered and decisions reached by
the Board including any concerns or dissenting views raised by Directors.
Minutes of board meetings and the board committees meetings will be
sent to all Directors for their comments and records as soon as after the
board meeting.

Minutes of board meetings and board committees meetings are kept by

the Company Secretary and such minutes are open for inspection within
reasonable advance notice.
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All Directors have access to relevant and timely information, and they can
ask for further information or retain independent professional advisors if
necessary. They also have unrestricted access to the advice and service of
the Company Secretary, who is responsible for providing Directors with
board papers and related materials and ensuring that board procedures
are followed.

Should a potential conflict of interest involving a substantial shareholder
or Director arise, the matter is discussed in an actual meeting, as opposed
to being dealt with by written resolution. Independent non-executive
Directors with no conflict of interest are present at meetings dealing with
conflict issues. Board committees, including the Audit, Remuneration and
Nomination Committees, all follow the applicable practices and procedures
used in board meetings for committee meetings.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The Code stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive officer
should be separated and should not be performed by the same individual.
The Company did not segregate the roles of the chairman and chief
executive officer. The role of the chief executive officer was performed by
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent, who was the then existing chairman of the
Company during the year under review. Apart from the reason of such
deviation mentioned above, the Board also believes that vesting the roles
of both chairman and chief executive officer in the same person provides
the Company with strong and consistent leadership, and allows for
effective and efficient planning and implementation of business decisions
and strategies.

The Board will periodically review the merits and demerits of such
management structure and will adopt such appropriate measures as may
be necessary in the future taking into consideration of the nature and
extent of the Group’s operation.

Audit Committee

As required by Rules 5.28 to 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules, the Company
has established an audit committee which comprises three independent
non-executive Directors, Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen, Mr. Tang Siu, Henry and
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony. Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen was appointed as
chairman of the audit committee.
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The primary duties of the audit committee are to review the Company’s
annual report and accounts, half-yearly report and quarterly reports and to
provide advices and comments thereon to the Board. The audit committee
meets at least four times a year with management to review the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and to discuss
auditing, internal control and financial reporting matters. The principal
terms of reference includes, inter alia, its relationship with the Company’s
external auditor, review of the Company’s financial information and
oversight of the financial reporting system and internal control procedures
of the Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2011, four audit committee meetings
were held and the following is an attendance record of the meetings by
each Director.

Attendance
Name of Directors
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen 4/4
Mr. Tang Siu, Henry 3/4
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony 3/4

The Group’s financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2011 have
been reviewed by the audit committee, who is of the opinion that such
statements comply with the applicable accounting standards, the GEM
Listing Rules and legal requirements, and that adequate disclosures had
been made.

Remuneration Committee

The Company established a remuneration committee on 1 August 2005
with written terms of reference in compliance with the Code. The roles
and functions of the remuneration committee include the determination
of the specific remuneration packages of all executive Directors and senior
management of the Company, including benefits in kind, pension rights
and compensation payments, such as any compensation payable for loss
or termination of their office or appointment, and make recommendations
to the Board of the remuneration of non-executive Directors. Members of
the remuneration committee include Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen, Mr. Tang Siu,
Henry, Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony and Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent,
with Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen as chairman. A majority of the votes in the
remuneration committee are exercisable by independent non-executive
Directors. No Director will be involved in any discussion in connection with

his own remuneration.
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The remuneration committee schedules meet at least once a year. During
the year, one remuneration committee meeting was held to review the
remuneration packages of executive Directors and the directors’ fees
of the independent non-executive Directors and the following is an
attendance record of the meeting by each Director.

Attendance
Name of Directors
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen 11
Mr. Tang Siu, Henry 7
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony on

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong Vincent 171

Nomination Committee

The Company established a nomination committee on 8 December 2005
with written terms of reference in compliance with the Code. Members of
the nomination committee include Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen, Mr. Tang Siu,
Henry, Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony and Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent,
with Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen as chairman.

The nomination committee shall meet before the annual general meeting
of the Company, or at other times as required by the chairman of the

nomination committee.

The roles and functions of the nomination committee include the
appointment and removal of Directors, reviews the background,
experience, qualification, general market conditions and the Company’s
articles of association in selecting and recommending candidates for
directorship.

During the year ended 31 March 2011, one nomination committee
meeting was held and the following is an attendance record of the

meeting by each Director.

Attendance
Name of Directors
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen 11
Mr. Tang Siu, Henry 01

il
il

Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong Vincent
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During the meeting, members considered and resolved that all the existing
Directors shall be recommended to be retained by the Company. Further,
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen and Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony will retire from
the Board in accordance with Article 108 of the Company’s articles of
association at the forthcoming annual general meeting, and, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.

Directors’ and Auditors’ Responsibilities for the
Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparation of the
financial statements of the Group and ensure that the financial statements
are in accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards. The Directors also ensure the timely publication of the financial
statements of the Group.

The statements of external auditors of the Company, Baker Tilly Hong
Kong Limited, about their reporting responsibilities on the financial
statements of the Group is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on
pages 31 to 32 of this annual report.

Internal Control

The Board has overall responsibility for the system of internal controls
of the Company and for reviewing its effectiveness. In order to maintain
a sound and effective internal control for safeguarding the Company’s
assets and shareholders’ interests, the Board has adopted internal control
policy and procedures (the “Internal Control”) within the Company. The
Internal Control is designed to provide reasonable assurance against
misappropriate use of the Company’s assets and to manage the Group’s

operational system in an efficient manner.

The Internal Control mainly covers areas of finance, operations and
compliance. The Company shall conduct an annual review of the Internal
Control to assess its effectiveness and shall make recommendations to the
Board if any significant areas of concern are identified.
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External Auditors

The audit committee is responsible for considering the appointment of
the external auditors and reviewing any non-audit functions performed by
the external auditors of the Group. In particular, the audit committee will
consider, in advance of them being contracted for such service, whether
such non-audit service could lead to any potential material conflict of
interest. Nothing has come to its attention to cause the audit committee
to believe that the non-audit services provided by the external auditors
affect their independence, objectivity and effectiveness in the audit
process in accordance with applicable standard.

For the year ended 31 March 2011, the fee payable to the auditors in
respect of audit services amounted to HK$340,000 while the fee payable
to the auditors in respect of non-audit services relating to the taxation
amounted to HK$26,700.

Communication with Shareholders

The Board is committed to maintaining an ongoing and transparent
communication with all shareholders. The Directors host annual general
meeting each year to meet the shareholders and answer their enquiries.
The Company uses various communication channels, such as publication
of annual and quarterly reports, press announcements and circulars,
to update the shareholders on the Group’s business developments and
financial performance. Such information is also available on the Company’s
website: http://www.hkite.com.

s

‘§s"’

‘§§\\

Corporate Governance Report
rEERHRSE

SN BLED

ERZEGREZELEINEREA - A AEE ISR
BEEEZBG - c RESLESERVARKHHEM - £
BREFECRBEETREENREHR - BRZEEY
BISTEM FEE LR RIS BRI R EE R
SYEERBEHBEAMELOEY  FBERBEREZ -

HE_ZT——F=ZA=1+—HIFE REERBIH&
HAHE A A340,00078 70 © Mt A RIS K IEBAZ RIS S+
ZEENE B A26,700/8 7T °

IR R E

EEEHNMNEYRERREFEREANER - E5XH
BEMNRFAEFRE  NERREAREEBHEENHMA -
ARAMEASZERRERE  WHONFEREER  RERB
B LR REFAEBEEBERLMBRENEE © Z
BB IMEN AR E A ¢ hitp://www.hkite.com ©

ANNUAL REPORT 2010-2011 F3&

19

N



20

graphical Details of Directors & Senior Management

O
-
=) = /

Jnl

g&%/\&%fﬁl

Directors

Executive Directors

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent, aged 47, is an Executive Director, Chief
Executive Officer and one of the founders of the Group. He is responsible
for overall strategic planning and management of the Group. With
over 24 years of experience in the executive management, Mr. Lau was
engaged in China trade before founding the Group. He graduated from
The University of Hong Kong with a first class honours Degree of Bachelor
of Science in Mechanical Engineering.

Mr. George Roger Manho, aged 48, is an Executive Director and one
of the founders of the Group. Mr. Manho has 23 years of experience
in the control and automation industries, electrical and mechanical
projects and engineering management. He is a Chartered Engineer and a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Engineers, The Institute of Marine
Engineers and The Hong Kong Institute of Marine Technology and the
Institution of Fire Engineers. He holds a Master degree in Engineering
Studies in Mechanical Engineering from the University of Sydney and a
Bachelor of Science (Engineering) degree with first class honours in Marine
Engineering from the University of Newcastle Upon Tyne.

Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung, aged 48, is an Executive Director and one of
the founders of the Group. He is responsible for technical management
and research and development (R&D). With 27 years of experience in R&D
and production management, Mr. Cheng won the awards of the Hong
Kong Awards for Industry for seven times (two Machinery and Equipment
Design in 2005 and 2007, one Consumer Product Design in each of 1993,
2000 and 2001 and two Designs in 1997). He holds a Higher Diploma in
Electronics Engineering from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University.

Mr. Liu Hoi Wah, aged 42, is an Executive Director of the Group. He
is responsible for financial management, accounting and corporate
development. He joined the Group in March 2000. Mr. Liu graduated from
The London School of Economics and Political Science of the University
of London with a Bachelor of Science degree, first class honours in
Management Sciences. He is an associate member of each of the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales (“ICAEW") and the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"). Mr. Liu is the
younger brother of Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen, CBE, BS, FHKIE, J; aged 71, holds an honorary
doctoral degree in engineering from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University
and an honorary doctoral in laws from the Chinese University of Hong
Kong. He was formerly a member of the Hong Kong Legislative Council
from 1978 to 1997 and a senior member of the Hong Kong Legislative
Council from 1988 to 1991.
Kong Executive Council from 1985 to 1992. He was appointed as the

Dr. Lee was also a member of the Hong
Company’s independent non-executive director in December 2000.

Mr. Tang Siu, Henry, QFsM, CPM, aged 66, is currently a Registered
Chinese Medicine Practitioner (Full Subjects), a director of a private
company, the Principal Consultant of Hong Kong Fire Services Staff
General Association, the Life and First President of the Hong Kong
Professional Institute of Chinese Medicine Medicated Meal & Food, a
Consultant & life member of Hong Kong Registered Chinese Medicine
Practitioners Association, the Vice President of the Friends of Scouting
and a member of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators (East Asia Branch).
Mr. Tang was Chief Fire Officer Hong Kong Fire Command from 1993 to
2000. He holds a Master Degree of Science (Major in Urban Planning),
a Bachelor Degree of Law (Hons) and a Fellow of the Faculty of Law of
University of Wolverhampton, the United Kingdom. He was appointed as
the Company’s independent non-executive director on 5 September 2005.

Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony, aged 45, is the Managing Director of
Anthony Kam & Associates Limited, Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Kam
holds a Bachelor of Laws degree from the University of Wolverhampton,
the United Kingdom, and a Bachelor of Science degree from the
University of Hong Kong. Mr. Kam is a fellow member of the HKICPA and
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (“ACCA"), an associate
member of the ICAEW and a member of the Hong Kong Securities
Institute. Mr. Kam has over 21 years of experience in auditing, accounting
and tax matters, both in private and public companies. He was appointed
as the Company’s independent non-executive director on 30 September
2004.
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Senior Management

Mr. But Wui Fai, Cyrus, aged 43, is an associated director (Project and
Sales) of the Group. Mr. But is responsible for management of project
commissioning of the Group. With 20 years of experience in IT and RFID
industry on project management, systems design and implementation. Mr.
But had achieved numerous project assignments in government sectors,
public utilities, tertiary institutions and public listed companies. He worked
for 10 years in an IT consultancy company in Hong Kong before joining
the Group in September 2001.

Miss. Yeung Yuen Chun, Mona, aged 37, is the Financial Controller and
associated director of the Group. Miss Yeung is responsible for managing
the Group’s finance and accounting operations, performing statutory and
management reporting. Miss. Yeung has over 14 years of experience in
auditing, accounting and financial analysis. She is an associate member of
the ICAEW and a fellow member of the ACCA and the HKICPA. She holds
a Bachelor Degree of Business Administration (Honours) in Accounting
from the Hong Kong Baptist University.

Mr. Yuk Wai Kwok, Simon, aged 46, is a Consultant (Marketing and
Sales) of the Group. Mr. Yuk is responsible for business development, sales
and marketing of the Group. He is also in charge of the development
of business co-operation arrangement with vendor and partners in
Hong Kong, PRC, Macao and other overseas market. With 20 years
of experience in project management of IT industry, Mr. Yuk has been
involved in the sales and tendering process for several sizeable IT projects.
He was a project manager of a computer company for 10 years before
joining the Group in December 1999.

Mr. Lam Kwai Sum, aged 45, is the Senior Project Manager of the Group.
Mr. Lam is responsible for project management, implementation and
maintenance services. With 24 years’ depth knowledge and experience
in project engineering including 14 years in the design, coordination, site
supervision, testing and commissioning in building services and 10 years
of project design and management, tendering and supervision of electrical
installation systems. He joins the Group in August 2001 and has been
involved in several sizeable installation projects in Hong Kong and Macao
including government sectors, public sectors, campus and estates.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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The directors submit herewith their annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2011.

Principal activities

The principal activity of ITE (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) is
investment holding. The principal activities and other particulars of the
subsidiaries are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

The analysis of the principal activities and geographical locations of the
operations of the company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the “Group”) during the financial year are set out in note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Major customers and suppliers
The information in respect of the group’s turnover and purchases

attributable to the major customers and suppliers respectively during the
financial year is as follows:
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ITE (Holdings) Limited (AR A]) MEZEKARER
BB A RN E B ERFRH NS M ISHREWNE16 -

ARBREMBAR (A [ AEE]) RAMRFENETE
iR BB DI RN A MWK 1S

TERFRHER

RABBFEAR  REBXZEFPMEEERELHEHAM
EERBEFBOT

Percentage of the group’s total

HAREBAEEIL
Turnover Purchases
e g
The largest customer BREP 9% -
Five largest customers in aggregate RREFRET 33% -
The largest supplier ?Kﬁi\}f?ﬁ - 10%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate e AT - 35%

At no time during the year have the directors, their associates or any
shareholder of the company (which to the knowledge of the directors
owns more than 5% of the company’s share capital) had any interest in
these major customers and suppliers.

Financial statements

The loss of the group for the year ended 31 March 2011 and the state
of the company’s and the group’s affairs as at that date are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 33 to 94.
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Reserves
Loss attributable to owners of the company of HK$3,432,074 (2010: a
profit of HK$203,966) has been transferred to reserves. Other movements

in reserves are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2011 (2010: HK$Nil).

Charitable donations

Charitable donations made by the group during the year amounted to
HK$4,000 (2010: HK$2,000).

Fixed assets

Details of the movements in the fixed assets of the group are set out in
note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

Share capital

Details of the movements in the share capital of the company are set out
in note 28(a) to the consolidated financial statements. Shares were issued
during the year on exercise of share options.

Pre-emptive rights
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the company’s articles
of association and there was no restriction against such rights under the

laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the company to offer new
shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Directors
The directors during the financial year were:

Executive directors

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung

Mr. George Roger Manho
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah

Independent non-executive directors
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen

Mr. Tang Siu, Henry

Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony

In accordance with Article 108 of the company’s articles of association, Dr.
Lee Peng Fei, Allen and Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony retire from the board
by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible,
will offer themselves for re-election.

Directors’ service contracts

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent, Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung and Mr. Liu Hoi
Wah have entered into service contracts with the company on 1 April
2011 for an initial fixed term of one year commencing from 1 April 2011
which will continue thereafter until terminated by three months’ notice in
writing served by either party on the other.

Mr. George Roger Manho has entered into a service contract with
the company on 1 January 2011 for an initial fixed term of one year
commencing from 1 January 2011 which will continue thereafter until
terminated by three months’ notice in writing served by either party on
the other.

Except for the above, none of the directors proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract which is
not determinable by the company, or any of its subsidiaries, within one
year without payment of compensation, other than normal statutory
obligations.
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Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and
short positions in shares, underlying shares and
debentures

As at 31 March 2011, the interests and short positions of each director
and chief executive of the company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFO")), which were notified to the company and The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, including any interests and short positions
which they have taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions
of the SFO, or which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO,
to be entered in the register referred to therein, or which were required,
pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.68 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange (the
"GEM Listing Rules”), to be notified to the company and the Stock
Exchange were as follows:

‘!.-:\‘\:\”

EERTHRATRKRMD - HEROKE
SRERNERRAR

RZE——F=ZA=Z+—HB ARBSEERTREER
BEHFRAEKFIE15TREISENRTE - ARAIHE
EAEESEE (TR R (EHRAE GO ([FEBREN]) 8
THI) HEMNEARTRR SRS - BRI RE
HFHRBAMNERSAR (BIEREREHIEINZERERR
BRRIERBMERIAR) - MBI ARIEE R EG 5
32T AT EMELMA - KABRAIZER E TR A 25.46
E5.68(FMEARBINENGRAR KRR ST A
BERINMAT -

(i)  Interests in issued shares of the company (i) EATRRDER
Number of ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
BRO.0TBTEBERRE
Percentage
of total
Personal Corporate Family Other issued shares

Name of Director interests interests interests interests Total EB BT
BExpg B AR RS RikfER Hitigs &t BROBEDL
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent - 277,210,348 (L) - - 277,210,348 (L) 29.63%
B bt (Note 2) (FifzE2)
Mr. George Roger Manho 63,142,254 (L) - - - 63,142,254 (L) 6.75%
BEEEE
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung 133,628,000 (L) - - - 133,628,000 (L) 14.28%
EPR I e
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen 1,760,000 (L) - - - 1,760,000 (L) 0.19%
FEREL
Notes: FaE
1, The letter “L” denotes a long position in the shares. 1. [L] FRRBHG BIFA -
2. These shares are beneficially owned by Rax-Comm (BVI) Limited (“Rax- 2. WERD TR —RREBREZEEBKILHRF]

Comm”), a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. Mr. Lau
Hon Kwong, Vincent held 67.94% of the entire issued share capital of
Rax-Comm.

ITE (Holdings) Limited

Rax-Comm (BVI) Limited ([Rax-Comm]) Ff #%
A o BiE Y A ARax-Comm 67.94%HI 2 %17
B&1% ©



(ii) Interests in equity derivatives, as defined in the
SFO, in or in respect of, underlying shares

During the year and at 31 March 2011, the directors had the
following personal interests in options to subscribe for shares of
the company granted at HK$1 under a share option scheme of the

/
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EEEWE

(i) MABBERZSHBEROITETANES
(EEREHRH)

FARRZZE——F=A=+—H ARAEFHE
REBEARRBREFEAVETHNERR LIRS
ARBBMDOBRETEEATOEAERS - T

company. Each option gives the holder the right to subscribe for BIRE R R A ARE IR -
one share.
Number of share options
BRERY )
Price per share
Outstanding Outstanding to be paid on
as at asat31 exercise of
1 April 2010 March 2011 options
W=2-Z%F  Granted  Exercised during  Lapsed R=B-—-% Period during which TERE
Name of Director Date granted MA—-B  duringtheyear  theyear  duringtheyear =A=1-H options exercisable BXAW
E3fg RHAH WA RERRH RERTE REREH WA BRETESR BRER
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent 12 February 2001 6,109,440 - (6,108,000) (1,440) - 21 August 2001 to HK$0.095
WErEE “22-F-F1ZR 1 February 2011 009587
“T2-EN\A-_T-RE
“F—%-At-H
Mr. George Roger Manho 12 February 2001 4,000,000 - - (4,000,000) - 21 August 2001 to HK$0.095
RIRERE “ZZ-%-F+-H 11 February 2011 0.095% 7
“TE-E\AZ+-HE
“F——%CAt-H
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung 12 February 2001 4,000,000 - (4,000,000) - - 21 August 2001 to HK$0.095
iyt ~%¥2-%-ft-A 11 February 2011 0.095%57T
“TR-£)\A-+-H
EFIE—EZft-H
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah 12 February 2001 19,112,640 - - (19,112,640) - 21 August 2001 to HK$0.095
E=Eg “¥2-%¥-ft-A 11 February 2011 0.095%7T
ZEE-F)\AZT-RE
“2—%ZA1T-H
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen 12 February 2001 1,760,000 - (1,760,000) - - 21 August 2001 to HK$0.095
ZEREL ~$2-%-f1-A 11 February 2011 0.095% 7T

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2011, none of the directors,
chief executive of the company or their associates had any interests
in the shares or debentures of, or short positions in the shares of, the
company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) which would have to be notified to the company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO,
including interests or short positions which they have taken or deemed
to have taken under such provisions of the SFO, or which were required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
to therein, or which were required, pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.68 of the
GEM Listing Rules, were required to be notified to the company and the
Stock Exchange.

“EE-F/\AZT-RE
“E—%-AT-H

Mg R ——F=ZA=+—R8 EE- 17
Braa s 15 SR B 8 A T AR IR 3B B IE 155 15.7 ] 15.8
ERARQR S E T MAERAE (TR REHEME TR
BERGKEFRESRAR (BERBEPEONNZSR
EWRBIRIERANERIAR) - MBI AREES

IEBIE3521E T AFEN B MR - KIBIRAIZER LR
F5.46E5.68FFTEMMBMNBENE AR KRG E
A EESORE -

ANNUAL REPORT 2010-2011 F3&

/;“

27

N\

N



£ =

//

Z

28

Directors’ Report

ERERE

Directors’ and chief executive’s rights to acquire
shares or debt securities

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Directors’ and chief
executive’s interests and short positions in shares, underlying shares and
debentures”, at no time during the year was the company, or its holding
company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable
the directors and chief executive of the company to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debt securities, including
debentures, of the company or any other body corporate, and none of the
directors and chief executive of the company or their spouses or children
under the age of 18, had any right to subscribe for the securities of the
company, or had exercised any such rights.

Interests and short positions of shareholders in
the shares and underlying shares

As at 31 March 2011, the following persons, other than a director or chief
executive of the company, had interests or short positions in the shares
and underlying shares of the company as recorded in the register required
to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO and so far as is known to any
director or chief executive of the company:

%%&ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬂ%ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬂ@

BPA bt TEE RITHRAENRD - HERO RESAESR
BVRERS RO R ] PRIREESN - F - ARE - ERARHEFE
A EARHME2EERZH  EARBESRITHRAE
AREEBAARRREMAMAEAB BN RN HELTES
(BfEES) MESHE  MARAEERTRERIKS
MECESERRH +N\RNF R BEEM A RBEARAF
FHVRER - TMETT R ERER -

EEHEOITRRABRBENER R KA

RoZE——F=R=+—B REBHEIIE36HTET
BENECMAE MR ERNARBEERITHRAE MM -
THIAL (RARZERHITHREHRIN) RAR RN K
MERAR D h A R SRR

Number of Percentage of
ordinary total issued
shares held shares

Name of shareholder FEFEER HERITRON

RRA RHEHAR Bk

Rax-Comm (Note 1) 277,210,348 29.63%

Rax-Comm (FMf&E1)

Mr. Lau Hoi Chuen (Note 2) 56,498,388 6.04%

208 )1% % (KisE2)

Notes: PR 5E -

1. These shares have been disclosed as the corporate interests of the relevant 1. ZEBRMER [EZ RITERAERKZD - HERG REFH
directors in the section headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and FiEBRNERRAR | —HEBEABMESNDERELS -
short positions in shares, underlying shares and debentures”.

2. Mr. Lau Hoi Chuen is the elder brother of Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent. 2. 2N ETIRBIEN R ERTF ©

Save as disclosed above, the company had not been notified of any other B EXATEEIN - RZT——F=A=+—H ' REEF

person, other than directors or the chief executive of the company, who
had an interest or a short position in the shares and underlying shares
of the company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO and so far is known to any
director or chief executive of the company as at 31 March 2011.

Share option schemes

Details of the company’s share option schemes are set out in note 27 to
the consolidated financial statements.

ITE (Holdings) Limited

HEPIS36eIE T AT RENECMAME A AR R ERLIT
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Purchase, sale and redemption of shares of the
company

During the year and up to the date of this report, the company purchased
256,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the capital of the company
at prices ranging from HK$0.098 to HK$0.106 per share on the Stock
Exchange.
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BE - HERBEERAQTRS

RERZWIREBH  ARERRBHTUFRR0.098B LE
0.10678 JoE 1% 85 A 256,000 & A 5] & AR E{E0.01E ;LY
LA o

Number of Price paid per share
shares Aggregate BRI HER
Month/year repurchased prices paid Highest Lowest
F/A R B E XA BS 545
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
February 2011
—T——%_A 80,000 8,049 0.105 0.098
March 2011
—E——4F=H 176,000 18,529 0.106 0.103
256,000 26,578

The repurchased shares were cancelled in April 2011 and accordingly the
issued share capital of the company was reduced by the nominal value
of these shares. The premium paid on the repurchase of the shares was
charged to the share premium account of the company. The directors
considered that, as the company’s shares were trading at a discount to the
net asset value per share, the repurchases would increase the net asset
value per share of the company.

Save as disclosed above, neither the company nor any of its subsidiaries
has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the company’s shares during the
above-mentioned period.

Directors’ interests in contracts

No contract of significance to which the company, or its holding company
or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a director of the
company had a material interest, subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the year.

Management contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the company were
entered into or in existence during the year.

Connected transactions

There were no transactions which should be disclosed in the annual report
as connected transactions in accordance with the requirements of the
GEM Listing Rules.

ZEMBEOR -_FT——FHAMDHEH  MARFES
BATRARMBEZ RO OEE T - R 8&EE
RARBRDEBERE AR - EFRREARARNRS
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BB O AR B ERB
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Five year summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 95 of the annual report.

Emolument policy

The emolument policy for the employees of the group is set up by the
Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications and

competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the company are decided by the
Remuneration Committee, having regard to the group’s operating results,
individual performance and comparable market statistics.

The company has adopted share option schemes as an incentive to
directors and eligible employees, details of the schemes are set out in note
27 to the consolidated financial statements.

Sufficiency of public float

The company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout the year
ended 31 March 2011.

Confirmation of independence

The company has received from each of the independent non-executive
directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considers all of the independent non-
executive directors are independent.

Auditor

A resolution for the re-appointment of Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
as auditor of the company is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting. The company has not changed its auditors in the past
four years.

By order of the board

Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent
Chairman

Hong Kong, 20 June 2011

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Independent Audltors Refort

=
BAKER TILLY

HONG KONG LIMITED
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS
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12th Floor, China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong

FHTHED168-20058 5 b LR A E12#

To the shareholders of
ITE (Holdings) Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of ITE (Holdings)
Limited (the “company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “group”) set out on pages 33 to 94, which comprise the consolidated
and company statements of financial position as at 31 March 2011, and
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement
for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory information.

Directors’ responsibility for the consolidated
financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to

fraud or error.
Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

HITE (Holdings) Limited& 2%
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Independent Auditor’s Report
AV STy

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free
from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the company and of the group as at 31
March 2011,

ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards

and of the group’s loss and cash flows for the year then

and have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 20 June 2011

Kwok Lai Ha, Helena

Practising certificate number P05170
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong doIIarS) BE_T——F=A=+—HILFE CAETIIE)

Note 2011 — & ——&F

2010 —Z=—T4F

P HK$# T HK$Z 7T

Turnover =E 20 4 23,417,680 54,935,393
Cost of services rendered ERHRIE A (15,970,626) (43,037,952)
Cost of sales BEEBWHIRA (955,231) (875,529)
Gross profit EF 6,491,823 11,021,912
Other income H iU A 5 109,007 111,636
Administrative expenses THER (9,934,310) (10,489,821)
(Loss)/profit from operations & (FE) uR (3,333,480) 643,727
Finance costs BhE KA 6(a) (86,547) (397,161)
(Loss)/profit before taxation ERBiAT (&) %A 6 (3,420,027) 246,566
Income tax FriS#t 7(a) (12,047) (42,600)
(Loss)/profit attributable to AATEEAFEREN

owners of the company (&5148), &R 10 (3.432,074) 203,966
Other comprehensive expense  Hftt2E % H 11
Exchange differences on BINRIGH IR E R

translating foreign operations (39,813) -
Total comprehensive FREE (X)W EzE

(expense)/income for the year (3,471,887) 203,966
(Loss)/earnings per share B8 (BE) BA 12
Basic (HK cents) EA (BL) (0.38) 0.02
Diluted (HK cents) #5g (Bl (0.38) 0.02

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated — pf#sgyptsE B4R It E 454 BTSSRI 00— 2615 o

financial statements.
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At 31 March 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

RZFE——F=A=+—H QNETIIE)

Note 2011 =& ——# 2010 —E—ZF
B 5E HKS$#E T HK$HE7T
Non-current assets IEREBEE
Fixed assets EE & E 14 85,440 175,823
Current assets REBEE
Inventories ey 17 1,551,174 1,599,577
Trade and other receivables FEWE 5 K% H fih fE YR 3k 18 6,893,854 4,930,378
Financial assets at fair value FEBREATERENSREE
through profit or loss 20 943,410 =
Income tax recoverable AT el Fr S 21 8,839 73,168
Pledged bank deposits BHEARITER 22 5,816,140 17,623,709
Cash and bank balances e RIBITER 22 2,460,273 1,532,500
17,673,690 25,759,332
Current liabilities REIEE
Trade and other payables FEE 5 N E b FERIR RN 23 4,246,253 4,113,380
Short-term borrowings SHIfEE 24 1,821,100 9,752,467
Provisions B 25 308,693 291,219
6,376,046 14,157,066
Net current assets REBEEFE 11,297,644 11,602,266
Net assets BEEFE 11,383,084 11,778,089
Capital and reserves EXR#E 28
Share capital A&7 9,357,280 9,033,160
Reserves it 2,025,804 2,744,929
Total equity RS 11,383,084 11,778,089

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 20 June 2011.

Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent
Director

Cheng Kwok Hung
Director

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated

financial statements.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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At 31 March 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) R=F——&=A=1—8 (WET5IE)

Note 2011 =&——# 2010 —&—=F
BiEE HKS$E T HKS$# T
Non-current assets FREEE
Investments in subsidiaries B ARERE 16 4,000,000 4,000,000
Current assets REEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEURRT B A BIIRR 16 6,607,372 3,659,994
Deposits and prepayments HEIE £ 18 194,524 170,550
Cash and bank balances R MRITER 22 81,312 79,814
6,883,208 3,910,358
Current liabilities REEE
Accrued charges and other payables  fEztE f K H b ERIRFK 23 532,697 548,078
Net current assets REEETFE 6,350,511 3,362,280
Net assets EEFE 10,350,511 7,362,280
Capital and reserves BARR#E 28
Share capital [ 9,357,280 9,033,160
Reserves s 993,231 (1,670,880)
Total equity s 10,350,511 7,362,280

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 20 June

2011.

Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent
Director

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated

financial statements.

Cheng Kwok Hung
Director
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE-_T——F=-A=1+—HILFE UCABTIIE)

Consohdated Statement of Changes in Equity

Reserves
4]
Exchange
Share Share Merger reserve Accumulated
capital premium reserve SEER losses Total
R R1EE B it RiER it
HK$ATT HK$#ETT HK$# T HK$ABTT HK$ATT HK$ATT
Balance at 1 April 2009 RZZZNFNA—B&EH 9,055,680 22,722,184 10,748,910 431,880  (31,209,857) 11,748,797
Total comprehensive income FREENEERE
for the year - - - - 203,966 203,966
Repurchase of shares IR (FiEE28(a)i)
(note 28(a)(ii) (22,520) (152,154) - - - (174,674)
Balance at 31 March 2010 RZZ-ZE=A=1+—HEK
and 1 April 2010 “T-TFENA-BE 9,033,160 22,570,030 10,748,910 431,880  (31,005,891) 11,778,089
Total comprehensive expense X2 HEE
for the year = = = (39,813)  (3,432,074)  (3,471,887)
Repurchase of shares mEERRL (FizE28(a)n)
(note 28(a)(ii)) (2,560) (24,018) = = = (26,578)
Issue of shares upon exercise of ~ {T{#BE ARIE T 21 TA (7
share options (note 28(a)iii))  (Fi¥zE28(a)iii)) 326,680 2,776,780 = = - 3,103,460
Balance at 31 March 2011 RZE——F=A=+—R#H 9,357,280 25,322,792 10,748,910 392,067 (34,437,965 11,383,084
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated M7= &IFIERAEK L Fire MRz — 5

financial statements.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

For the year ended 31 March 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

NP
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HET——F=A=+—HILFE UNETIHIE)

Note 2011 =&——#& 2010 —&—Z%4F
k=3 HKS$#E T HK$/%7E
Operating activities G
(Loss)/profit before taxation BELAT (B18), 55 (3,420,027) 246,566
Adjustments for: N BIF AL A -
— Loss/(gain) on disposal of financial — HEFBBREATYE
assets at fair value through BENSREEN
profit or loss EE /(UEs) 5 4,635 (3,026)
— Fair value gain on financial assets — ERBREA T ERER
at fair value through profit or loss SREENASTERR 5 (55,968) -
— Interest income — FBEUA 5 (27,972) (38,963)
— Finance costs — BB 6(a) 86,547 397,161
— Depreciation — e 6(c) 106,922 227,418
— Exchange difference —[ERERE (36,512) =
— Loss on disposal of fixed assets — HERTEEERIE 6(c) 1,004 183
— Provisions — BE 6(c) 455,068 517,374
— Reversal of unused provisions — RE) R E 6(c) (437,594) (2,161,038)
— Write-off of inventories — FEMH 6(c) 165,582 102,849
Operating loss before changes REEESEBHINESLER
in working capital (3,158,315) (711,476)
Increase in inventories FEE (117,179) (2,549)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and FEUWE 5 K H b R YR 3K
other receivables (), /b (1,963,476) 4,404,818
(Increase)/decrease in financial assets BBBEREATERIEN
at fair value through profit or loss SREE (8m),/md (892,077) 3,026
Increase/(decrease) in trade and e B 5 R E A ETIRR
other payables #n,/ Ckd) 132,873 (6,635,006)
Cash used in operations E£BFARSE (5,998,174) (2,941,187)
Interest paid BEASFIE (86,547) (397,161)
Tax refund REIF K 139,363 =
Tax paid BRI (87,081) (207,763)
Net cash used in operating activities E&EKFAREEE (6,032,439) (3,546,111)
Investing activities REZE
Purchase of fixed assets BERTEE (17,222) (31,382)
Increase in time deposits with terms BB =1A A 8B HFEZIE M
over three months (476,000) -
Interest received 2 U F 2 27,972 38,963
Net cash (used in)/generated from RETE (TR EEBELFE
investing activities (465,250) 7,581

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated

financial statements.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

BREmRER
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

\\\

BE_ZT——F=ZA=+—HLFE CVETIIE)

Note 2011 —Z2——% 2010 =& —ZF
FtE HK$38 7T HK$7 7T
Financing activities mMEES
Proceeds from issue of new shares T REAREm TR ?
upon exercise of share options FifSskIE 28(a)iii) 3,103,460
Repurchase of shares 6185 B {0 28(a)(ii) (26,578) (174,674)
Decrease/(increase) in pledged EHRPRITFEFE
bank deposits, net md 1 (3E) 11,807,569 (3,135,748)
(Decrease)/increase in bank loans, net RITEEFE CRd) /8 (1,178,900) 600,616
Net cash generated from/(used in) METEELE (FTA)
financing activities REFE 13,705,551 (2,709,806)
Net increase/(decrease) in cashand BE&RBLSZEEYFE
cash equivalents #m, (D) 7,207,862 (6,248,336)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April AMNA—HWRERELEEY (5,219,967) 1,028,369
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes SN [ER BB H) /2 (3,622) =
Cash and cash equivalents R=EZA=+—HHEER
at 31 March RE%EY 22 1,984,273 (5,219,967)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated

financial statements.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Notes to the Consolidatezd Financial Statements
wIN 3

(a)

For the year ended 31 March 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

General information

ITE (Holdings) Limited (the “company”) was incorporated in the
Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability
under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The address
of its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The address of
the principal place of business of its operating subsidiaries is Units
1005-07, Level 10, Manulife Provident Funds Place, 345 Nathan
Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong. The company’s shares are listed on
the Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries (together with the company collectively
referred to as the “group”) are set out in note 16 to the

consolidated financial statements.

In the opinion of the directors of the company, as at 31 March
2011,
British Virgin Islands (“BVI"), is its immediate and ultimate holding

Rax-Comm (BVI) Limited, a company incorporated in the

company. This entity does not produce financial statements
available for public use.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$"), except where indicated otherwise, which is also
the functional currency of the company.

Significant accounting policies
Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs"”), which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs"”) and Interpretations issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
The consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock
Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”). A summary of the significant
accounting policies adopted by the group is set out below.

(a)

B 15 R i et

BHE—ZT——F=fA=1— EIJtiF'(LMéTE@HE)

—REF

ITE (Holdings) Limited ([ZAR@]]) AR S S
B —RERRER AR - HeEfinZ ACricket

Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands  if1 £ & &}

BARMEEZLEME BB B NERBE3LSHE
FATEE KE10#2100521007= - AR A M %%
NEBBERXZHERAR ([RXFH]) BIERT
Bk

AR B —BIREER C IEHB AR (B
AREBA[AER]) Eﬁig%i‘%%zwu?éw%i&
FHIEE16 o

EERAN_ZE——F=A=T—"HBHNEERZ
IR A T 5 2R B B 2 B B e it A 32 BYRax-Comm
(BVI) Limited » Wt EBWEE HIBMBHRER T AR
5 o

BIEREHA - BRIGRA M BHRKRIUET (JRE]
RATRINEEER) MERITI -

FTEEFHHE
BHRER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

=AN
TN
For the year ended 31 March 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(a)

(b)

ISR AR T

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Statement of compliance (continued)

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the group and the company. Note 3 provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting from
initial application of these developments to the extent that they
are relevant to the group for the current and prior accounting
periods reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2011 comprise the company and its subsidiaries.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements is the historical cost basis except as otherwise
stated in the significant accounting policies set out below.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs
that have significant effect on the consolidated financial
statements and estimates with a significant risk of material
adjustment in the next year are discussed in note 33.

ITE (Holdings) Limited

2

(a)

(b)

BE_ZT——F=ZA=+—HLFE CVETIIE)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR e B s HaR M e

For the year ended 31 March 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=Z——&F=A=+—HILFE LETIIE)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the group. Control exists
when the group has the power to govern the financial and
operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its
activities. In assessing control, potential voting rights that are

presently exercisable are taken into account.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated
financial statements from the date that control commences
until the date that control ceases. Intra-group balances and
transactions and any unrealised profits arising from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains
but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

In the company’s statement of financial position, investments in
subsidiaries are stated at cost less impairment losses (see note 2(iii)).
The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the company on the
basis of dividend received or receivable.

Fixed assets

Fixed assets are stated in the statement of financial position at cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see note 2(i)ii)).

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of fixed
assets, less their estimated residual value, if any, using the straight-
line method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

— Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the lease terms

and 4 years
— Furniture and fixtures 4 years
— Computer and other 4 years

equipment

The useful life of an asset, its depreciation method and residual
value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item
of fixed assets are determined as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and are
recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

2

(c)

(d)

TEREHEEK (&)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4= AR
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(e)

()

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable

value.

Cost is calculated using the first-in, first-out cost formula and
comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which
the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-
down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of
inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the write-
down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-
down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the amount of
inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which the

reversal occurs.
Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value and
thereafter stated at amortised cost less allowance for impairment
of doubtful debts (see note 2(i)i)), except where the receivables
are interest-free loans made to related parties without any fixed
repayment terms or the effect of discounting would be immaterial.
In such cases, the receivables are stated at cost less allowance for
impairment of doubtful debts.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Service contracts

When the outcome of a service contract can be estimated reliably,
contract costs are recognised as an expense by reference to the
stage of completion of the contract at the end of the reporting
period. When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed
total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an
expense immediately. When the outcome of a service contract
cannot be estimated reliably, contract costs are recognised as an
expense in the period in which they are incurred.

Service contracts in progress at the end of the reporting period
are recorded at the net amount of costs incurred plus recognised
profits less recognised losses and progress billings, and are
presented in the statement of financial position as the “Gross
amount due from customers for service contract work” (as an
asset) or the “Gross amount due to customers for service contract
work” (as a liability), as applicable. Progress billings not yet paid by
the customers are included in the statement of financial position
under “Trade and other receivables”. Amounts received before
the related work is performed are included in the statement of
financial position under “Trade and other payables”.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are either
investments classified as held for trading or designated as at
fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition. These
investments are subsequently measured at fair value. Gains or
losses arising from changes in fair value of these investments are

recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BE—Z——&=A=+—HI-FE (LUETIIE)

2  Significant accounting policies (continued)
(i) Impairment of assets
(i) Impairment of trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable.

If any event or change in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable, an impairment loss is determined
and recognised as follows:

- For trade and other receivables carried at cost or amortised
cost, the impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the
financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. the
effective interest rate computed at initial recognition of
these assets), where the effect of discounting is material.
This assessment is made collectively where financial assets
carried at amortised cost share similar risk characteristics,
such as similar past due status, and have not been
individually assessed as impaired. Future cash flows
for financial assets which are assessed for impairment
collectively are based on historical loss experience for
assets with credit risk characteristics similar to the collective

group.

If in a subsequent period the amount of an impairment
loss decreases and the decrease can be linked objectively
to an event occurring after the impairment loss was
recognised, the impairment loss is reversed through profit
or loss. A reversal of an impairment loss shall not result in
the asset’s carrying amount exceeding that which would
have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised in prior years.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Impairment of assets (continued)
Impairment of trade and other receivables (continued)

Impairment losses are written off against the corresponding
assets directly, except for impairment losses recognised in respect
of trade receivables included within trade and other receivables,
whose recovery is considered doubtful but not remote. In this
case, the impairment losses for doubtful debts are recorded using
an allowance account. When the group is satisfied that recovery is
remote, the amount considered irrecoverable is written off against
trade receivables directly and any amounts held in the allowance
account relating to that debt are reversed. Subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously charged to the allowance account are
reversed against the allowance account. Other changes in the
allowance account and subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off directly are recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at each
reporting period to identify indications that the following assets
may be impaired or, except in the case of goodwill, an impairment
loss previously recognised no longer exists or may have decreased:
- fixed assets

- investments in subsidiaries; and

= goodwill
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BE—Z——&=A=+—HI-EE (LUETIIE)

2  Significant accounting policies (continued)
(i) Impairment of assets (continued)
(ii) Impairment of other assets (continued)

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. In addition, for goodwill, the recoverable amount
is estimated annually whether or not there is any indication of

impairment.
- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair
value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset. Where an asset does not
generate cash inflows largely independent of those from
other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for
the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).

- Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the
carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-generating unit
to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating
units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit (or
group of units) and then, to reduce the carrying amount
of the other assets in the unit (or group of units) on a pro
rata basis, except that the carrying value of an asset will
not be reduced below its individual fair value less costs to
sell, or value in use, if determinable.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Impairment of assets (continued)

Impairment of other assets (continued)

- Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment
loss is reversed if there has been a favourable change in
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals
of impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in the
year in which the reversals are recognised.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the
relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive
income or equity respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for
the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in

respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable
temporary differences respectively, being the differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from
unused tax losses and unused tax credits.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Income tax (continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities,
and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the asset
can be utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may
support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those that will arise from
the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences, provided
those differences relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in the
same period as the expected reversal of the deductible temporary
difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising from the
deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward. The same
criteria are adopted when determining whether existing taxable
temporary differences support the recognition of deferred tax
assets arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is, those
differences are taken into account if they relate to the same
taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected
to reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit
can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and
liabilities are those temporary differences arising from goodwill
not deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided
they are not part of a business combination), and temporary
differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent
that, in the case of taxable differences, the group controls the
timing of the reversal and it is probable that the differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible
differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse in the
future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on
the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying
amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred

tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at each
reporting period and is reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow
the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction is
reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient

taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of
dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the related
dividends is recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements
therein, are presented separately from each other and are not
offset. Current tax assets are offset against current tax liabilities,
and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the
company or the group has the legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions,
and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within
three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the group’s
cash management are also included as a component of cash and
cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated cash flow
statement.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value.
Except for financial guarantee liabilities measured in accordance
with note 2(o)(i), trade and other payables are subsequently
stated at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(m)

(n)

(o)

(i)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost with
any difference between the amount initially recognised and
redemption value being recognised in profit or loss over the period
of the borrowings, together with any interest and fees payable,
using the effective interest method.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in
equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Financial guarantees issued, provisions and
contingent liabilities

Financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the issuer (i.e.
the guarantor) to make specified payments to reimburse the
beneficiary of the guarantee (the “holder”) for a loss the holder
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Where the group issues a financial guarantee, the fair value of the
guarantee (being the transaction price, unless the fair value can
otherwise be reliably estimated) is initially recognised as deferred
income within trade and other payables. Where consideration
is received or receivable for the issuance of the guarantee, the
consideration is recognised in accordance with the group’s policies
applicable to that category of asset. Where no such consideration
is received or receivable, an immediate expense is recognised in
profit or loss on initial recognition of any deferred income.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial guarantees issued, provisions and
contingent liabilities (continued)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of uncertain timing
or amount when the group or the company has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where
the time value of money is material, provisions are stated at the
present value of the expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of

outflow of economic benefits is remote.
Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of
the reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised
in profit or loss, except those arising from foreign currency
borrowings used to hedge a net investment in a foreign operation
which are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Non-monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are
stated at fair value are translated using the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the dates the fair value was determined.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(p)

(a)

ISR AR T

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Translation of foreign currencies (continued)

The results of foreign operations are translated into HK$ at the
exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the dates of the transactions. Statement of financial position
items, including goodwill arising on consolidation of foreign
operations acquired on or after 1 January 2005, are translated
into HK$ at the closing foreign exchange rates ruling at the end
of the reporting period. The resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
separately in equity in the exchange reserve. Goodwill arising on
consolidation of a foreign operation acquired before 1 January
2005 is translated at the foreign exchange rate that applied at the
date of acquisition of the foreign operation.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of
the exchange differences relating to that foreign operation is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the profit or loss on
disposal is recognised.

Revenue recognition

Provided it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
group and the revenue and costs, if applicable, can be measured
reliably, revenue is recognised in profit or loss as follows:

Service revenue

Service revenue comprises revenue from smartcard systems, radio
frequency identification (“RFID”), information technology (“IT")
and related service contracts.

Revenue from a fixed price service contract is recognised using the
percentage of completion method, measured by reference to the
percentage of contract costs incurred to date to estimated total
contract costs for the contract. When the outcome of a service
contract cannot be estimated reliably, revenue is recognised only
to the extent of contract costs incurred that it is probable will be

recoverable.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)
Consultancy income

Consultancy income is recognised when the consultancy services
are rendered.

Income from maintenance services

Income from maintenance services is recognised on a straight-line
basis over the term of the maintenance service contracts.

Income received or receivable in respect of services which have
not been completed on or before the end of reporting period
are shown in the statement of financial position as deferred
maintenance income.

Sales of goods

Revenue is recognised when the goods are delivered at the
customers’ premises which is taken to be the point in time when
the customer has accepted the goods and the related risks and
rewards of ownership. Revenue excludes value-added tax or other
sales taxes, if any, and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective
interest method.

Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits and contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of non-
monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated
services are rendered by employees. Where payment or settlement
is deferred and the effect would be material, these amounts are
stated at their present values.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(ii)

(s)

(t)

(u)

(v)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Employee benefits (continued)
Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only when, the
group demonstrably commits itself to terminate employment or
to provide benefits as a result of voluntary redundancy by having
a detailed formal plan which is without realistic possibility of

withdrawal.
Research and development costs

Expenditure on research and development activities is expensed in
profit or loss in the year in which it is incurred.

Operating lease charges

Leases which do not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the group are classified as operating leases.

Where the group has the use of assets held under operating
leases, payments made under the leases are charged to profit
or loss in equal instalments over the accounting periods covered
by the lease term, except where an alternative basis is more
representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the
leased asset.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed in profit or loss in the year in which
they are incurred.

Related parties

For the purposes of these financial statements, a party is
considered to be related to the group if:

(i) the party has the ability, directly or indirectly through one
or more intermediaries, to control the group or exercise
significant influence over the group in making financial
and operating policy decisions, or has joint control over
the group;

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Related parties (continued)
(ii) the group and the party are subject to common control;

(iii) the party is an associate of the group or a joint venture in
which the group is a venturer;

(iv) the party is a member of key management personnel of
the group or the group’s parent, or a close family member
of such an individual, or is an entity under the control,
joint control or significant influence of such individuals;

(v) the party is a close family member of a party referred
to in (i) or is an entity under the control, joint control or

significant influence of such individuals; or

(vi) the party is a post-employment benefit plan which is for
the benefit of employees of the group or of any entity that
is a related party of the group.

Close family members of an individual are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that
individual in their dealings with the entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the consolidated financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the group’s
most senior executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the group’s
various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes, the
type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not individually
material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these

criteria.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Changes in accounting policies

The HKICPA has issued two revised HKFRSs, a number of
amendments to HKFRSs and new Interpretations that are first
effective for the current accounting period of the group and the
company as follows:

. HKFRS 3 (revised 2008), Business combinations
° Improvements to HKFRSs (2009)
° Amendment to HKFRS 5, Non-current assets held for sale

and discontinued operations — Plan to sell the controlling
interest in a subsidiary

° Amendments to HKAS 27 (revised 2008), Consolidated
and separate financial statements

° Amendment to HKAS 39, Financial instruments:
Recognition and measurement — eligible hedged items

. HK(IFRIC)-Int 17, Distributions of non-cash assets to
owners
. HK-Int 5, Presentation of financial statements -

Classification by the borrower of a term loan that contains
a repayment on demand clause

° Amendment to HKFRS 2, Share-based payment — Group
cash-settled share-based payment transactions

The adoption of these new or revised standards, interpretations
and amendments has no significant impact on the group’s results
and financial position nor any substantial changes in group’s
accounting policies.

The group has not applied any new standard or interpretation that
is not yet effective for the current accounting period.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #HE-Z——&=A=+—HI-FE (LWETIIE)
4  Turnover 4 EEH

EEBEEHER TEPHHERRERRE R
o FRARRRERENEEZD BT ¢

Turnover represents the sales value of goods supplied to customers
and revenue from services rendered. The amount of each

significant category of revenue recognised in turnover during the

year is as follows:

2011 =8——#& 2010 =2 —ZF
HKS$# 7T HK$E T
Provision of smartcard systems, REERERES - FIRHER R
RFID and IT services AR
— Service revenue — PRI M 9,093,123 9,019,723
— Income from maintenance services — RERBIA 8,851,774 9,019,586
— Sales of service related products — IHE RS E @ 1,444,017 1,550,681
19,388,914 19,589,990
Consultancy income B R AR TS U 4,028,766 853451403
23,417,680 54,935,393
5  Other income 5 L fb U A
2011 =2——#& 2010 =T —ZF
HK$# 7T HK$E T
Interest income A B U A 27,972 38,963
Exchange gain, net HE 5 - 1,261
(Loss)/gain on disposal of financial assets ~ Hi&:F BB 1R A FEERIEH
at fair value through profit or loss CRMEED (BE), W (4,635) 3,026
Fair value gain on financial assets FiRER R A THERIEN
at fair value through profit or loss SRMEENN T ERS 55,968 =
Sundry income EHAU A 29,702 68,386
109,007 111,636

ANNUAL REPORT 2010-2011 F3&
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=Z——&F=A=+—HILFE LETIIE)

6  (Loss)/profit before taxation 6 BRBEAT (B5|) T
(Loss)/profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting): BRELAT (E518),SaFIBIk (GHA)

2011 —&——5F 2010 — T4

HK$% T HKS$%E T
(@) Finance costs: (a) BB A
Interest on bank loans and overdrafts RITEE KRB FIE 86,547 397,161
(b) Staff costs (b) BTHA
(including directors’ remuneration) * (BEESHE) "
Salaries, wages and other benefits e ITERAMET 14,754,046 41,385,907
Retirement scheme contributions (note 26) RORET B3 (FfE26) 626,337 1,471,068
15,380,383 42,856,975
() Other items: (© HEAMIRR :
Auditor’s remuneration ZERATEN & 340,000 325,000
Cost of inventories # FERA # 5,507,503 5,519,278
Depreciation e 106,922 227,418
Development costs ORI N 739,223 957,098
Exchange loss b 5 518 5,320 -
Provisions (note 25) Bt (BeE25) 455,068 517,374
Loss on disposal of fixed assets HEREEEEE 1,004 183
Operating lease charges: mEHELTH
minimum lease payments XA ERIE
— hire of properties — WM 1,807,728 1,835,958
— hire of office equipment — AR ELE 43,236 32,880
Reversal of unused provisions (note 25) RENAREEIRE (Hi25) (437,594) (2,161,038)
Write-off of inventories FEMH 165,582 102,849
# Staff costs included HK$672,694 (2010: HK$880,070) relating to ’ 8 T A AN B $5672,694%8 T (= T — & 4 :
development costs, which amount is also disclosed separately in note 880,070/ 7T) M EERCA » UL S KA E 7E/t
6(c). FE6(C) B HEE o
# Cost of inventories included HK$165,582 (2010: HK$102,849) relating " FEMKA®IEIS8BT(ZFT — % F:
to write-off of inventories, which amount is also disclosed separately in 102,849 7T) fF &N - L S1F EMEHE EMEE
note 6(c). 6(c)BLHEE ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Income tax in the consolidated statement 7

of comprehensive income

Taxation

in the consolidated statement of (a)
comprehensive income represents:

S S¥

\\
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e B s HRaR M T

BE_Z——FZA=+—HLFE CVETIIE)

REREWEROAEH

REZHWERPHIER !

2011 = Z2——%F 2010 —&—Z4F
HKS$#E T HK$ETT
Hong Kong profits tax BRAEH
— Provision for the year — FREE 12,047 62,698
— Over-provision in respect of prior years — B FERERE - (20,098)
12,047 42,600

The provision for Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at 16.5%
(2010: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for the year.
Taxation for overseas subsidiaries is charged at the appropriate
current rates of taxation ruling in the relevant jurisdictions.

No provision for income tax in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC") and Macao have been made in the consolidated financial
statements as the group did not have any assessable profits for
taxation purpose in the PRC or Macao during the year (2010:

HK$Nil).

Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting (b)

FARNBEERERERTR EFIA16.5% (=ZF

—ZF :16.5%) 5t &
Bl 5 BIRIEIRITIAHI -
RHRITHEFTHE -

ui%ﬁ&r

/i?\\EI’JFE AR A B IR

AR E G E

AEBRFALEPEARKNE (THE]) KR

P9 AT AT fih 9 i A
FERD (T —FF : &) -

R BT R 4 B RORPS

BRBEXHEST (BB ZFNE

(loss)/profit at applicable tax rate: BEWEHIRWNT :
2011 = Z——%F 2010 —_&—Z4F
HKS$#E T HK$ T

(Loss)/profit before taxation MRiRT (B18), /%A (3,420,027) 246,566
Notional tax at the applicable RIE16.5% 3 AT R A R FRIE

tax rate of 16.5% (564,304) 40,683
Tax effect of different tax rates on MY /B A RIS &b 7 R TR A

subsidiaries operating in other T}u‘]"%w &)

jurisdictions (40,812) (66,576)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses DA E ANFRETE 597 1,171
Tax effect of non-taxable income BERBW AT 2 (404) (2,397)
Tax effect of prior year's tax losses utilised P45 1B 18 M TR I/ &2 (8,766) (387,387)
Tax effect of temporary differences ARIERNE R ZREN T2

not recognised (9,419) 16,004
Tax effect of unused tax losses RER M ARE AR IBEERN

not recognised M2 651,312 440,294
Over-provision in respect of prior years BEFERERE - (20,098)
Exchange adjustments PE Vi % (16,157) =
Others Hih - 20,906
Actual tax expense FriSHisz i 12,047 42,600
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BE—Z——&=A=+—HI-EE (LUETIIE)

8 Directors’ remuneration 8 E=EMeS
Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to the GEM Listing RIBRIZFER ETAR R REERFRGIE 161165 ER
Rules and section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance is WEEMEFFENT :
as follows:
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ and benefits scheme 2011
fees in kind contributions Total
e 2R —E——F
EE=Me REYR = BANGHEIERK ast
HK$# T HK$#% T HK$#E T HK$# T
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent 53¢ 5 4 230,000 504,276 12,000 746,276
Mr. George Roger Manho HEEHLEE 50,000 - - 50,000
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung EPER S A 230,000 388,400 12,000 630,400
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah ZIEETE 50,000 - - 50,000
560,000 892,676 24,000 1,476,676
Independent non-executive BN IETES
directors
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen ERBEL 240,000 - - 240,000
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony BZ kA 50,000 - - 50,000
Mr. Tang Siu, Henry AR AE 50,000 - - 50,000
340,000 - - 340,000
Total aetr 900,000 892,676 24,000 1,816,676
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ and benefits scheme 2010
fees in kind contributions Total
e o 2Rh —E—TF
=M< REDNE  RKGHEIGERK &t
HK$E7T HK$/&7T HK$E7T HK$#E 7T
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent — ZI5& ¥ 5 4 230,000 515,038 12,000 757,038
Mr. George Roger Manho HEH LA 50,000 - - 50,000
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung BOE I S 230,000 422,740 12,000 664,740
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah ZgESE 50,000 - - 50,000
560,000 937,778 24,000 1,521,778
Independent non-executive BN IETES
directors
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen ZERE L 240,000 - - 240,000
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony Pt 50,000 - - 50,000
Mr. Tang Siu, Henry AR AE 50,000 - - 50,000
340,000 = = 340,000
Total aetr 900,000 937,778 24,000 1,861,778
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #HE-Z——&=A=+—HI-FE (LWETIIE)

9 Individuals with highest emoluments 9 EBeEFMAL
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two (2010: RAUZEFMALTE - ML (ZZE—FF : MAL)
two) are directors whose emoluments are disclosed in note 8. The BEE  FENHSCHRKIES » Hép= (==
aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the other three (2010: —ZF : =) ReH ATHMSEEMOT

three) individuals are as follows:

2011 =2——% 2010 —_=—Z4F

HK$7% T HKS$S 7T
Salaries and other emoluments e REMmE 1,365,180 1,399,274
Retirement scheme contributions RIRETEIHFR 36,000 36,000
1,401,180 1,435,274
The emoluments of the three (2010: three) individuals with the “N(ZE—ZF: M) e HATHAMEN

highest emoluments are within the following band: FRFIEE -

2011 =2——% 2010 —=—Z4F

Number of Number of
individuals individuals
ALTEE ATEE
HKS$Nil — HK$ 1,000,000 87T — 1,000,000/ 7T 3 3

10 (Loss)/profit attributable to owners of the 10 ZARXFEBEAFAEML (BE)

Y
company g
The consolidated (loss)/profit attributable to owners of the RRARAANELGA (BB),&HeiE—%4
company includes a loss of HK$88,651 (2010: a profit of 88,651 BTTMER (ZF—TF : 191,846/
HK$91,846) which has been dealt with in the financial statements 7o) ZERBERARAINM MR AR o

of the company.

11 Other comprehensive expense 11 HttZ2EXH
Tax effects relating to each component of other comprehensive SHRAMEZEI ENRBETENT
expense:
2011 =2——#& 2010 —Z—Z4F
Before tax Tax Net-of-tax  Before tax Tax Net-of-tax
amount expense amount amount expense amount

BREASE BEIE BREESE BEge®E BEIE REGEE
HK$E T HK$7E T HK$7E T HK$E 7T HK$ 7T HK$ 7T

Exchange differences on TBINETEHY
translating foreign hEERE
operations 39,813 - 39,813 - - -
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

12 (Loss)/earnings per share

(@) Basic (loss)/earnings per share

12

(a)

The calculation of basic (loss)/earnings per share is based on the

loss attributable to owners of the company of HK$3,432,074
(2010: a profit of HK$203,966) and the weighted average of
912,904,000 (2010: 904,564,592) ordinary shares in issue during

the year.

(b) Diluted (loss)/earnings per share

(b)

The calculation of diluted (loss)/earnings per share is based on
the loss attributable to owners of the company of HK$3,432,074
(2010: a profit of HK$203,966) and the weighted average of
912,904,000 (2001: 906,739,476) ordinary shares, calculated as

follows:

BE_ZT——FZA=+—HLFE CVETIIE)

2R (B1R) BF
SREA (F18) BF

BRER (F8)  BFTHZARBHEES AELER
3,432,074 T (ZF —ZF : )& 7203,966/5 7T)
RERNBFHITE B NEF 5 20912,904,000
B (ZZ—Z4F : 904,564,592/%) 5t & -

SREE (5518) &R
TR (B518),/ B TR AR B HEA AEIGEE
3,432,074 0 (=ZZF — T F : & #203,966/%8 JT)

KT 217 @A A hn#E 19 A% £4912,904,000
% (ZZ—F4 : 906,739,476/%) 1 & :

2011 =2——% 2010 —_=—Z4

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares for the purpose of basic

R=ERA=+—BHMUE
TRRE AR F A LA

earnings per share at 31 March IntE AR S 912,904,000 904,564,592
Effect of deemed issue of shares under RIBANR 5828 WM

the company’s share option scheme BRI IR EE BT

for nil consideration B B 52 2 - 2,174,884
Weighted average number of ordinary R=A=+—BHUtE

shares for the purpose of diluted TS BRI EA

earnings per share at 31 March INAEF 15 A% 25 912,904,000 906,739,476

ITE (Holdings) Limited



7 - . - ~
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements \\
e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #HE-Z——&=A=+—HI-FE (LWETIIE)

Segment reporting 13 SHPBH/E

AEENKERERD AT ROEERRSL - 5
SRR B A R B AR T A K (ii) B TR AR 7% » B Rl sE Lk

The group’s operating and reportable segments are (i) smartcard
systems, RFID and IT services; and (ii) consultancy services.

Information regarding these segments is reported below: DEEHZ2|AOT :
Smartcard systems,
RFID and IT services Consultancy services Consolidated
BRFRG - SIERA
RERBH RS ERRS e
2011 =8——F 20102F-FF 201M=%——%F 2010=F-TF 2011=F——F 2010-F-%F
HKSHE T HK$/B T HKS$E T HK$&TT HK$E T HK$/ET
TURNOVER EXE
Revenue from external customers — $5h 2Bz 19,388,914 19,589,990 4,028,766 35,345,403 23,417,680 54,935,393
RESULTS ES
Segment (loss)/profit 28 (Bi8) /&8 (1,601,418) (1,356,344) (32,439) 3,668,367 (1,633,857) 2,312,023
Unallocated corporate revenue R FAELAEME 109,007 111,636
Unallocated corporate expenses AP AEMESH (1,808,630) (1,779,932)
(Loss)/profit from operations B (E18) /% (3,333,480) 643,727
Finance costs BEMA (86,547) (397,161)
(Loss)/profit before taxation BEA (BR)/ %7 (3,420,027) 246,566
Income tax FrEH (12,047) (42,600)
(Loss)/profit for the year FR (BR),/ &l (3,432,074) 203,966
ASSETS E
Segment assets PHBE 7,480,304 6,005,928 855,640 529,300 8,335,944 6,535,228
Unallocated assets RTHREE 9,423,186 19,399,927
Total assets wEE 17,759,130 25,935,155
LIABILITIES &
Segment liabilities NHERE 3,608,940 3,761,712 413,309 94,809 4,022,249 3,856,521
Unallocated liabilities APHEEE 2,353,797 10,300,545
Total liabilities BaR 6,376,046 14,157,066
OTHER INFORMATION HivEs
Capital expenditure EARY 17,222 28,902 - 2,480 17222 31,382
Depreciation ik 102,286 222,149 4,636 5,269 106,922 227418
Loss on disposal of fixed assets ~ HEEFEEHE 1,004 183 - 1,004 183
Provisions bt 404,110 349,454 50,958 167,920 455,068 517,374
Reversal of unused provisions ~ ARENF BRI (383,262) (789,019) (54,332) (1372,019) (437,594) (2,161,038)
Write-off of inventories FEMSH 165,582 102,849 - 165,582 102,849
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE_ZT——FZA=+—HLFE CVETIIE)

13 Segment reporting (continued) 13 ZEHmE (&)

For the purpose of monitoring segment performances and RTEESD2ENRERERN DB

allocating resources between segments:

- Segment (loss)/profit represented (loss from)/profit = FT25M 52 (Bi8), R F91ELE HE
earned by each segment without allocation of certain EEETBARA - HEA - BEKK -
central administration costs, other income, finance costs, MR ZRA KRBT T 25 °
exchange difference and income tax expense.

= All assets are allocated to reportable segments other = BRI EEITBUKA - AIEMRET - BE
than prepaid central administration costs, income tax HRITFFARRE RIRITERIN - FTEE
recoverable, pledged bank deposits and cash and bank ERSETE25DE -
balances.

= All liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other = BRIE(T R ZEITHNA - B FTIS B A K A2 5
than accrued central administration costs, income tax BEIN  FTEBEEDETSE5HE -
payable and short-term borrowings.

(@) Geographical information (a) HumER

The group’s operations are principally located in Hong Kong, REBEEERE  RFIARPBILEFT o

Macao and the PRC.

The group’s revenue from external customers and information REBEWHEINE P W e R IERE) & ZE 83035 5 B an

about its non-current assets by geographical location of the assets N

are detailed below:

Revenue from
external customers Non-current assets
HINEF s FRBEE
2011 =F——%F 2010 ZZ—FF 2011 =F——F 2010 T —FF
HK$E 7T HK$/E7T HK$#% T HK$#E 7T
Hong Kong BB 17,062,060 45,813,793 74,900 152,330
Macao JEFY 6,299,366 8,902,323 5,335 10,101
PRC Fh 56,254 198,997 5,205 13,392
Other locations Hwib 7 - 20,280 - -
23,417,680 54,935,393 85,440 175,823
(b) Information about major customers (b) FEEBEETEEFER

For the year ended 31 March 2011, there was no (2010: one) BHE-_T——F=A=1+—HIEFE ' BB (=

customer who accounted for over 10% of total revenue of the —ZF : ) ERRBOMBES WG REEE

group with revenue of HK$Nil (2010: HK$29,693,000) related to BUREBBI0% RZZE—TFE ZR/ETERF

the consultancy services segment.

64 ITE (Holdings) Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

14 Fixed assets 14 EEEE
The group rEE
Computer
Leasehold Furniture and other
improvements and fixtures equipment Total
ElK
HEVRES GRREE Hitzk s a5t
HK$E T HK$ETT HK$ % T HK$7BTT

Cost: B

1 April 2009 RZZZNEFNA—A 539,133 403,810 2,862,036 3,804,979
Additions NE - 4,444 26,938 31,382
Disposals/written off HeE /s - (600) (70,306) (70,906)
At 31 March 2010 and RZE—TF=A=+—H

1 April 2010 k=F—ZFMA—H 539,133 407,654 2,818,668 3,765,455
Additions INE = 402 16,820 17,222
Disposals/written off HeE /s - (16,342) (62,183) (78,525)
Exchange adjustments D 57, %8 - 1,844 7,634 9,478
At 31 March 2011 —Z—%=fF=+—H 539,133 393,558 2,780,939 3,713,630
Accumulated depreciation: RIHE

1 April 2009 RZZZNENA—H 450,821 385,737 2,596,379 3,432,937
Charge for the year FRHE 88,312 9,560 129,546 227,418
Written back on disposals/ HeErRTE /s

written off - (600) (70,123) (70,723)
At 31 March 2010 and —T-ZF=HA=1+—H

1 April 2010 ;k=F-TFMA—H 539,133 394,697 2,655,802 3,589,632
Charge for the year FNME - 8,076 98,846 106,922
Written back on disposals/ HERE /W

written off - (16,124) (61,397) (77,521)
Exchange adjustments ik - 1,743 7,414 9,157
At 31 March 2011 RZZE——F=F=+—H 539,133 388,392 2,700,665 3,628,190
Carrying amount: IREE :
At 31 March 2011 —Z—%=f8=+—H - 5,166 80,274 85,440
At 31 March 2010 RZZE—TF=F=+—H - 12,957 162,866 175,823
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE_ZT——FZA=+—HLFE CVETIIE)

15 Goodwill 15 &
The group
rEH
HK$A 7T
Cost RS
At 1 April 2009, 31 March 2010, R-ZZEZENFEMNA—B —BE—ZFF=A=+—0 -
1 April 2010 and 31 March 2011 —E-TFMA—HER=E——F=A=+—H 9,507,923
Accumulated amortisation E¥ ¢
At 1 April 2009, 31 March 2010, R-ZTZNFMNE—B  —E—FF=A=1—H
1 April 2010 and 31 March 2011 —E-EFENMA-BRE_ZT——F=A=+—H 3,169,307
Accumulated impairment loss Z2RBEEER
At 1 April 2009, 31 March 2010, R_ZTTZNFMA—B  —T—ZTF=A=1+—H8 "
1 April 2010 and 31 March 2011 —E-EENA-AR_E——&=A=+—H 6,338,616

Carrying amount

At 31 March 2011

At 31 March 2010

16 Investments in subsidiaries 16 MIEBARKRE
The company
¥ /N
2011 —F——% 2010 ZZF—Z4F
HKS$E T HK$A 7T
Unlisted investments, at cost FEEMIRE (BRAAAN) 4,000,000 4,000,000
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEWFHT B A BINR IR 28,882,297 25,934,919
Less: Impairment loss B R EETE (22,274,925) (22,274,925)

6,607,372 3,659,994

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free

and repayable on demand.

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31 March
2011. The class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated.

ITE (Holdings) Limited

RSP 8 X RIR RIS REIEIR - B RAEERE

T AT EMBATN-B——E=A=+—AK
SHE o BT - AN REER -



16

“‘////

For the year ended 31 March 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

S

‘§§\\

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e B SR M T

BE_ZT——F=A=+—HLFE CNETIIE)

Investments in subsidiaries (continued)

16 KMEBLRRE (&)

Place of Percentage of Particulars of issued
incorporation/ ownership and paid up
Name of company establishment interest capital Principal activities
a0 ik Rz BETR
DR ER R 3L 1t 26 BO BRBRANFE TEXK
Indirect
=3
2011 2010
—E——F C—Z-ZF
ITE Smartcard Solutions Hong Kong 100% 100% 3,418,336 shares of Provision of smartcard systems
Limited B HK$1 each and related services and sales
BERGARAR 3,418,336f% of service related products
(BREEIET) REE R RS KBRS X
HERBEEER
RF Tech Limited Hong Kong 100% 100% 2 shares of Manufacture and research of
BB HK$1 each smartcard system and service
2R (BREE1AT) related products
HERAR SR RRGERER
ITE (China) Limited (Note) PRC 100% 100% United States dollars Provision of smartcard systems
BB EERS H ("US$") 700,000 and related services
ARAT (FiHET) 700,000% 7T REERE R RS AR MRS
Quesco Systems Limited Hong Kong 100% 100% 6,500,000 shares of Provision of IT consultancy
ERRGBERERAR HE HK$1 each services
6,500,000/% REE R RS
(ZREEIST)
ITE Sistema (Macau) Macao 100% 100% Macao Patacas Provision of smartcard systems
Limitada BRFT ("MOP") 25,000 and related services and sales

operating period of 20 years expiring on 26 June 2021.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the group which, in the

BiEzg ORM) BRAHE 25,0002 9% of service related products
RES R ER RABRRS &
HERSEHER
Note:  ITE (China) Limited is a wholly foreign owned enterprise with an fer : EEMXEEZERGERAAR—REIEDR

¥ KESHAE-+F R-E-_—F A=t~
=] E=p e

ERIFTNEZRAREIBEFEAKTERNEERG

opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the year
or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the group.
To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

AAAEEFEET2ARBOOMBEAR - EEX
RBREEMHERARNFERS

£ o
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BE—Z——&=A=+—HI-FE (LUETIIE)

17 Inventories 17 ®E
Inventories in the consolidated statement of financial position RERE M BRARNTFERSRE !
comprise:
The group
AEE
2011 —F——% 2010 =2 —ZF
HKS$E T HK$7 7T
Raw materials RRE 762,424 642,236
Work in progress EE 432,422 366,165
Finished goods SURK G 356,328 591,176
1,551,174 1,599,577
. =h
18 Trade and other receivables 18 EWE S R HE M ERKIKRRK
The group The company
REE NG|
2011 =2——5F 2010 =22—ZF 2011 =F——%F 2010 _T—ZF
HKS#E T HK$A 7T HKS$E T HK$BTT
Trade receivables B 5 R 2,116,576 1,289,251 - -
Other receivables H IR R 462,637 768,191 - -
Gross amount due from FEYE F & AR TS
customers for service A TIEFEEE
contract work (note 19) (BtsE19) 2,740,551 1,846,547 - =
Retention money receivables FEUIRE & 187,457 46,870 - =
Deposits and prepayments  z]& RiF#E R 1,386,633 979,519 194,524 170,550
6,893,854 4,930,378 194,524 170,550
All of the trade and other receivables, apart from certain rental BRELHASITS REWRE S AE641,389%8 T (=
deposits and retention money receivables of HK$641,389 (2010: T—T4 : 500,87487L) I AEERFTEREKE
HK$500,874), of the group are expected to be recovered or 5 K& E b fEUIR SRR — F N A Bl s iR A E
recognised as expense within one year. A e

68 ITE (Holdings) Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

18 Trade and other receivables (continued)

(a)

(b)

The ageing analysis of trade receivables as at the end of
the reporting period is as follows:

18

(a)

S

‘§§\\

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR e B s HaR M e

BE_Z——F=ZA=+—HLFE NETIIE)

PR E 5 & HEWR R (&)

PR 5 R B UK E 5 1R R iR e 2 47 40
T

The group
rEE
2011 =& ——F 2010 —Z=—=4F
HK$E T HK$/E7T
Current Z<HR 279,248 566,938
Less than 1 month past due B —1E A 1,114,299 613,873
1 month to 3 months past due BE—EAZE=EA 663,544 95,585
More than 3 months but less than B EEE R =E A B DR —F

1 year past due 51,595 12,855
More than 1 year past due B EARE— 7,890 -
Amounts past due B 1,837,328 722,313
2,116,576 1,289,251

Trade receivables are due within 45 days (2010: 60 days) from
date of billing. Further details on the group’s credit policy are set
out in note 29(a).

Trade receivables that are not impaired

The ageing analysis of trade receivables that are neither individually
nor collectively considered to be impaired are set out in note 18(a).

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a
wide range of customers for whom there was no recent history of
default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a
number of independent customers that have a good track record
with the group. Based on past experience, management believes
that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of these
balances as there has not been a significant change in credit
quality and the balances are considered fully recoverable. The
group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

(b)

FHRESERXRBERABLILR (T - F:
60K) MEIH - REE W5 BEBURFF B M &
29(a) °

RBEBENERE 5 iR

TRBT R 18(a) FE UL E 5 1R SR E R i 2D AT IR 75 AR 40 =K
2 EEERE

FEMIRFOL G B M EORERA BN TP LA HR
FOEE °

EBHERIEFTERERENBULTFEREEE
Rifsek - RBBERLR  EEERELFEHRY
FEARBEARC R R RERER 22U E P
BAELRERERE - AEBRERHE L EERER
MBS ERY -
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BE—Z——&=A=+—HI-FE (LUETIIE)

19 Service contracts in progress

19 ETHHRBESH

The group
rEE
2011 =& ——F 2010 ZZ—TF
HK$#E T HK$/E7T
Contract costs incurred plus recognised 5B B A INE(R = FR &
profits less recognised losses to date AR R Ay EstE 4,865,578 a211,297
Less: Progress billings B RN (2,606,692) (2,567,700)
2,258,886 1,643,597
Gross amount due from customers for R FHREEHIE
service contract work (note 18) IR (fA5E18) 2,740,551 1,846,547
Gross amount due to customers for ENEERRSAAIE
service contract work (note 23) FaasaEE (fI5E23) (481,665) (202,950)
2,258,886 1,643,597
20 Financial assets at fair value through profit 20 ZEBEZRAFEERENEMEE
or loss
The group
rEE
2011 =F——F 2010 —=—ZF
HK$#E T HK$E T
Listed securities — held for trading LIW#ES —HEER
— Equity securities in Hong Kong — BERBHRAES 943,410 -
Market value of listed securities LEWBESHEHTSER 943,410 =
The fair value of all equity securities is based on their current bid FB RN H A E BN H A S i 038 R
prices in an active market. B -
ITE (Holdings) Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Income tax in the consolidated statement
of financial position

Current taxation in the consolidated statement of
financial position represents:

21

(a)

S

‘§§\\

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR e B s HaR M e

BE_Z——F=ZA=+—HLFE NETIIE)

e M IARR R FFTEB

A BN RO HHIE

The group
rEHE
2011 =2——% 2010 =T —TF
HK$#E T HK$E 7T
Provision for Hong Kong profits tax FABBISIREE

for the year 12,047 62,698
Provisional profits tax paid BARIGEE RS (41,792) (135,866)
(29,745) (73,168)

Balance of profits tax provision W FERNEHEESR
relating to prior years 20,906 -
Income tax recoverable AJ U Bl FTS R (8,839) (73,168)

Deferred tax assets not recognised

At 31 March 2011, the group has not recognised deferred tax
assets in respect of estimated unused tax losses of approximately
HK$42,745,000 (2010: HK$40,207,000) and deductible temporary
differences of approximately HK$739,000 (2010: HK$795,000)
due to the uncertainty of the related tax benefits being realised
through future taxable profits. The estimated unused tax losses
of approximately HK$3,892,000 (2010: HK$3,844,000) can be
carried forward for offset against the taxable profits of subsequent
years for five years following the loss year. Other unused tax losses
may be carried forward indefinitely.

Deferred tax liabilities

At 31 March 2011, there were no significant unrecognised
deferred tax liabilities (2010: HK$Nil).

(b)

()

RERIELERIREE

RZE——F=A=+—H BHRABHERH
wAZREEARBARL TS E @ AR E R
BEREMREHRIBEE - AARPAGBARIBEBELD
/42,745,000 7T (= & — = £ : 40,207,000/
JT) v AR MR A R = FEAY R739,0008 T (= F
—Z4F : 795,000/87T) - R KRB AMTTHIEERE
493,892,000/ T (= T — T £ : 3,844,000/% 7T )
AT AR 2EZ R R B F R ERTOEF - mEfs
1R AR K A BT ©

RE=IEH

R—B——F=A=+—H WRAEMEKE
REEHEEE (ZZ—FF : THT) o

7
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

22 Cash and cash equivalents

\\\

BE_ZT——F=ZA=+—HLFE CVETIIE)

ReERRATEEY

The group The company
b /N
2011 =F——% 2010 =F—ZF 2011 =2——F 2010 2T —FF
HKS#E T HK$A T HKSB T HK$ 77T
Cash and bank balances B NIR1THES 1,984,273 1,532,500 81,312 79,814
Time deposits TE HifF K 6,292,140 17,623,709 - =
8,276,413 19,156,209 81,312 79,814
Less: Pledged bank A BERRITER
deposits (note 24(c)) (Bf5E24(0)) (5,816,140) (17,623,709) - =
Cash and bank balances ISR ERNER S K
in the statement of RITR
financial position 2,460,273 1,532,500 81,312 79,814
Time deposits with terms HBB={EA R
over three months TEETERR (476,000) -
Bank overdrafts (note 24) RITEL (fI5E24) - (6,752,467)
Cash and cash equivalents G AEEREXRH
in the consolidated ReRASEEY
cash flow statement 1,984,273 (5,219,967)

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Time deposits are made for terms of two to six
months (2010: one to three months), depending on the immediate

cash requirements of the group.

Included in time deposits and cash and bank balances of the group
is a total amount of HK$705,743 (2010: HK$4,341) denominated
in Renminbi (“RMB"”) as at 31 March 2011. Conversion of RMB
into foreign currencies is subject to the PRC Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sales and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations.

ITE (Holdings) Limited

RITIE KA B WA B R AR 4% & H R 1708 B 17 5RA
EMEs o  FEHRERARPMEAZNEAR (ZF—
TF: —EAAZE=[EA) RFAEEHREFX
B ESREME °

R-ZT——F=A=+—H EHEREREKE
1T#EsAP 818705, 7438 TRAARKBIIE (ZF—
TE  4,34BTT) o BARE H B EMEBAER
B EINET GG RAERE  EERMNETERT
LT o
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #HE-Z——&=A=+—HI-FE (LWETIIE)

23 Trade and other payables 23 ENEZRHEMEMSIIKRRK
The group The company
FEH PN
2011 =2——%F 2010 —T—FTF 2011 =B——F 2010 _T—FF
HK$#& 7T HK$ETT HK$#E 7T HK$B 7T
Trade payables FETE SRR 590,258 1,026,583 - =
Accrued charges and FEETE A RHEM
other payables AR TR 2,069,757 1,758,404 532,697 548,078
Gross amount due to ERE P H RS
customers for service SRIERIE
contract work (note 19)  #8%8 (Ff5E19) 481,665 202,950 - -
Deferred maintenance EERBUA
income 1,104,573 1,125,443 - =
4,246,253 4,113,380 532,697 548,078
All of the trade and other payables, apart from certain deferred B ELRIEREBRABTE L (T —FF 1,369
maintenance income of HK$Nil (2010: HK$1,369), of the group HBIT) O0 - RNEBE A ERE 5 & HE b FE iR 5K
are expected to be settled or recognised as income within one IR —FAZ R ERERSMERBWA o

year or are repayable on demand.

The ageing analysis of trade payables as at the end of the RGN  REZHHGFERNE SRRNIRE
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: DITAT
The group
rEE
2011 =F——F 2010 —Z=—=4F
HK$E T HK$E 7T
Less than 1 month DR —1E A 236,037 424,256
1 month to 3 months —E==@A8 185,277 352,269
More than 3 months but less than 1 year — #3i8 =18 B A —F 141,648 235,747
More than 1 year Bl —F 27,296 14,311
590,258 1,026,583
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

24 Short-term borrowings

The bank loans and overdrafts were repayable within one year or

on demand as follows:

-..~:T\§:§~‘

BE_ZT——FZA=+—HLFE CVETIIE)

24 RTHIEE

AR—FAREEREENRITEEREMAT :

The group
AEE
2011 —F——% 2010 ZF—ZF
HKS$E T HK$B T

Secured bank loans BEPRITEE 1,000,000 3,000,000
Unsecured bank loans EIIRITIEE 821,000 -
Secured bank overdrafts (note 22) BEPRITES (F7E22) - 6,752,467
1,821,100 9,752,467

The bank loans and overdrafts bear weighted average effective

interest rate at approximately 4.7% (2010: 3.5%) per annum for

the year.

At 31 March 2011, the group’s general banking facilities were

secured by the following:

(a)

(b)

()

(e)

corporate guarantees executed by the company;

personal guarantees executed by two directors of the
company (note 32(b));

the group’s pledged bank deposits (note 22);

the guarantee executed by the Government of the HKSAR;
and

standby letter of credit provided by a subsidiary.

ITE (Holdings) Limited

AEBERMRITEE RRITERNETFHFEF X
WATE (ZZT—FF : 3.5F) ;T EFE -

RZT——F=A=+—0 AEEERTELDH
—MREIRTTRENERNT :
(@)  ARFMLEER:

(b) ARRIMBESMEAER (HEE32(b))

() AEENEHERRTER (H:E22)

(d) BB BT RHATER &

(e) MEARBEAERMR -
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #HE-Z——&=A=+—HI-FE (LWETIIE)

Provisions 25 15

The group A5 M

Employee Defect liability

benefits period
(note (a)) (note(b)) Total
EEREF fRE A
(FMizx(a)) (Ff=E(b)) &5t
HK$#E 7T HK$#E 7T HK$# 7T
At 1 April 2010 R-ZE—ZFMA—H 92,028 199,191 291,219
Additional provisions recognised FEIMEREEHE (FiiFE6(0)
(note 6(c)) 111,425 343,643 455,068
Reversal of unused provisions RENARE AR (MiFE6()
(note 6(c)) (114,325) (323,269) (437,594)
At 31 March 2011 R-—ZE—F=A=+—H 89,128 219,565 308,693
Notes: B 5
©) The provision for employee benefits represents annual leave accrued (a) B EBANBE RS FRRRERFHREME -
and compensation claims made by employees.
(b) The provision for the defect liability period relates to the estimated (b) REPREEDEELEE TEP SR RRAGMNMEE
cost of work agreed to be carried out for the rectification of smartcard TREA - AR RERBEEHRENBRTZED
systems to certain customers. The amount has not been discounted A BORARTEHRIRE -

for the purpose of measuring the provision for defect liability period
because the effect would not be material.

ANNUAL REPORT 2010-2011 &g 75



£ —

//

Z

76

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

=AN
N
For the year ended 31 March 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

26

27

ISR AR T

Employee retirement benefits

The group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance and not
previously covered by the defined benefit retirement plan. The
MPF scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan administered
by independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make contributions to the
plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of
monthly relevant income of HK$20,000. Contributions to the plan
vest immediately.

The subsidiary operating in the PRC is required to participate in
a defined contribution retirement scheme, organised by relevant
government authorities for the staff in the PRC. The subsidiary
is required to make contributions to the retirement scheme at
specified rates of the basic salary of its employees in the PRC.

The group’s retirement scheme contributions charged to profit or
loss for the year were HK$626,337 (2010: HK$1,471,068).

Share options schemes
The company adopted a pre-IPO share option scheme (the “Pre-

IPO Scheme”) on 12 February 2001.
adopted a 2002 share option scheme (the “2002 Scheme”) on

In addition, the company

8 August 2002, and the Pre-IPO Scheme was simultaneously
terminated. Upon termination of the Pre-IPO Scheme, no further
options may be offered thereunder. However, in respect of the
outstanding options, the provisions of the Pre-IPO Scheme will
remain in force. The outstanding options granted under the Pre-
IPO Scheme continue to be subject to the provisions of the Pre-
IPO Scheme and Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules, and the
adoption of the 2002 Scheme will not in any event affect the
terms in respect of such outstanding options.

ITE (Holdings) Limited

26

27
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Share option schemes (continued) 27 WBRRESHE (&)
Pre-IPO Scheme (a) LETAIETE
As mentioned above, the Pre-IPO Scheme was terminated on 8 NERK - FWRIGTER-_ZZ_FNANER
August 2002 and no further options may be offered thereunder. 1E - T eIt B ETERE  REARRITE
Details of the outstanding share options of the scheme during the R RTIBT
year are as follows:
Number of share options
BREHE
Outstanding Price per
at 1 April 2009, sharetobe  Market value
31 March Granted Exercised Lapsed  Outstanding paidon pershare at
Name or category of 2010 and during during during  at 31 March Period during which exercise of ~ date of grant
participant 1 April 2010 the year the year the year 2011 Date granted options exercisable options of options
R-BRNE
mA-f»
Z2-%%
Zh=1-8
HR=%-2F R=B—-§ fEERE  RbBRE
mA-A ZB=1-H AN EBH
BERENHLER AR RERRE  RERTE  RERER AR BB ERETES ShER RetE
Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent/Director 6,109,440 - (6,108,000) (1,440) - 12 February 2001 21 August 2001 to HK$0.095 NA
11 February 2011
UEt /B ZET-F ZTR-EACt-RAE 0095ET TR
A=A ZE——%-A+-H
George Roger Manho/Director 4,000,000 - - (4,000,000 - 12 February 2001 21 August 2001 to HK$0.095 N/A
11 February 2011
HigkE /&35 ZEE-F ZTR-ENACt-RAE 0095%T R
ZAtzH  ZE——ECAt-H
Cheng Kwok Hung/Director 4,000,000 - (4,000,000) - - 12 February 2001 21 August 2001 to HK$0.095 NA
11 February 2011
il 8 £ 3T IE-EN\ACT-BE  00%5ET R
ZAtzR  ZE——£ZAf-H
Liu Hoi Wah/Director 19,112,640 - - (19,112,640) - 12 February 2001 21 August 2001 to HK$0.095 N/A
11 February 2011
HEE /B2 ZEE-F ZTRENACH-RAE 009%5RT TR
ZATZR  ZE2——fzA+-A
Lee Peng Fei, Allen/Director 1,760,000 - (1,760,000) - - 12 February 2001 21 August 2001 to HK$0.095 N/A
11 February 2011
TBR/ 8% FE-F ZTR-ENACt-RAE 009%5RT T
ZATZR  ZE3——fzAt+-A
Employees 35,157,920 - (20800,0000  (14,357,920) - 12 February 2001 21 August 2001 to HK$0.095 N/A
11 February 2011
iE8 ZF5-F ZEE-FM\ACT-RE  00%ET 0 il
ZATZA  ZE——£Zf1-A
70,140,000 - (326680000 (37,472,000 -

In respect of the share options exercised during the year, the
weighted average share price at the dates of exercise is HK$0.12
(2010: HK$Nil).

BANFERTEAERE - ERTEE A e inET 1
RERCI2ZEBT (ZF—FTF : T8 -
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27

(b)

Share options schemes (continued)
2002 Scheme

The company operates the 2002 Scheme for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the group’s operations. Eligible
participants of the 2002 Scheme include the company’s directors,
including independent non-executive directors, other employees of
the group, suppliers of goods or services to the group, customers
of the group, advisers and consultants, etc. The 2002 Scheme
became effective on 8 August 2002 and, unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that
date.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the 2002 Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the company shall not exceed 30% of the total number of shares
of the company in issue. The maximum number of shares issuable
under share options to each eligible participant in the 2002
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the company
within any 12-month period, is limited to 1% of the shares of the
company in issue at any time. Any further grant of share options
in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a

general meeting.

Share options granted to directors, chief executives or substantial
shareholders of the company, or to any of their associates, are
subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive
directors. In addition, any share options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the
company, or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the
shares of the company in issue at any time or with an aggregate
value (based on the price of the company’s shares at the date of
the grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period,
are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general

meeting.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Share option schemes (continued) 27 BRRESHE (&)
2002 Scheme (continued) (b) =ZE=Fzt& (&)
The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within ERTREREETNEHELEREN - +—X
21 days from the date of the offer upon payment of a nominal AN NEBE-BETHRBRAEREXBRE - K4
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period ERENTERERAESETE  NELH—REH
of the share options granted is determinable by the directors, and ARG - WARRHEEEEREBR TR RE
commences after a certain vesting period and ends on a date H RIZEZ_FFHEZEE T -
which is not later than 10 years from the date of the offer of the
share options or the expiry date of the 2002 Scheme, if earlier.
The exercise price of the share option is determinable by the BRENTEERDBESEE EETESER
directors, but may not be less than the higher of (i) the closing THRSE : ()VARRGEBRERLE B/KT
price of the company’s shares on the date of the offer of the share & (i) A BIRMERMD XL A BRI A ER S A8 F
options, (i) the average closing price of the company’s shares for HURTIE ;5 (iR P EE -
the five trading days immediately preceding the date of the offer;
and (iii) the nominal value of the share.
Details of the outstanding share options of the 2002 Scheme RERNBMARITEN - EZE - FHENERENFS
during the year are as follows: m
Number of share options
EREHE
Outstanding Price per
at 1 April 2009, sharetobe  Market value
31 March 2010 Granted Exercised Lapsed  Outstanding paidon pershare at
Name or category of and 1 April during during during  at31 March Date Period during which exercise  date of grant
participant 2010 the year the year the year 2011 granted options exercisable  of options of options
R-BRNE
mA-A:
Z2-%%
ZR=t-H
NR=%-%% R=%--% kRRE  RLBRE
mA-A ZA=1-H AN EBM
BERELRNER HATE  REREE  RERTE  REREN HRITR RiiRH EREGRY SHRER Rttt
Employees 3,500,000 - - - 3,500,000 9 August 2002 9 August 2003 to HK$0.175 HK$0.175
8 August 2012
B8 ZTEZE ZITSE\ANAEE 0175BT 0.175% 7
NAAR ZT-ZFN\ANA
An employee 6,400,000 - - - 6,400,000 9 August 2002 9 February 2003 to HK$0.175 HK$0.175
8August 2012
[E8 ZETCF ZEECECAAAE 0SB 0I5ER
J\AKE “E-ZENANA
9,900,000 - - - 9,900,000
At 31 March 2011, the number of shares outstanding and issuable RZF——F=A=1t—H Lhalt&8R=
under the Pre-IPO Scheme and the 2002 Scheme were none and ZE_FHETETHRONDBEE DA STRK
9,900,000, respectively. 9,900,000/ °
Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or BRETERTHA ARIKERNERAG RS

to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

HVRER -
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28 Capital and reserves 28 EXRKRf#E
(@) Share capital (a) MBWAK
(i) The company (i) ViN/NE]
2011 =8——F 2010 —2—ZF
Number of shares HK$ Number of shares HK$
R &R BT REE BT
Authorised: EERA :
Ordinary shares of FREE0.01ETA
HK$0.01 each TR 2,000,000,000 20,000,000 2,000,000,000 20,000,000
Ordinary share, issued BETRAR
and fully paid: NSl
At 1 April REA—H 903,316,000 9,033,160 905,568,000 9,055,680
Repurchase of shares Bl
(note 28(a(ii)) (F=E28(a))) (256,000) (2,560) (2,252,000) (22,520)
Issue of shares upon isd- e
exercise of share options [
(note 28(a)(iii)) (BTzE28(a)ii) 32,668,000 326,680 = =
At 31 March R=A=+—H 935,728,000 9,357,280 903,316,000 9,033,160
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as TRREE ABRETRRIAAE RS - LE#E
declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share RAEE@ZE FRER—ZBRERR - IAELEAER
at meetings of the company. All ordinary shares rank equally with EAREEFAEES ARSI o

regard to the company’s residual assets.

80 ITE (Holdings) Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Capital and reserves (continued)

Share capital (continued)

Repurchase of shares

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

During the year, the company repurchased its own ordinary shares

on the Stock Exchange as follows:

S

\\
N
RE SRR

BE_ZT——FZA=+—HLFE CNETIIE)

28 EXKf#EE ()

(a) K=& (&)

(ii) o] R (5

FA - ARRRX OB ERBBERDINT

2011 =& ——%F
Number of Price paid per share
shares Aggregate FRZAER
Month/year £ /8 repurchased prices paid Highest Lowest
8 IR 17 B B X fT4EEE B= BRI
HK$#E T HKS$#E T HK$#E T
February 2011 —E—%_H 80,000 8,049 0.105 0.098
March 2011 —E——F=H 176,000 18,529 0.106 0.103
256,000 26,578
2010 —F—F4F
Number of Price paid per share
shares Aggregate FRZAER
Month/year % /R repurchased prices paid Highest Lowest
Bl X Ha%E &= =K
HK$# T HK$# 7T HK$7E 7T
September 2009 —ZETNFNA 1,524,000 95,194 0.065 0.060
October 2009 —ZTENFA 24,000 1,548 0.059 0.059
December 2009 ZZENEF+ A 704,000 77,932 0.125 0.098
2,252,000 174,674

The repurchased shares were subsequently cancelled in April 2011

(2010: January 2010) and accordingly the issued share capital of

the company was reduced by the nominal value of these shares.

The premium paid on the repurchase of the shares of HK$24,018

(2010: HK$152,154) was charged to share premium account.

ZEREROR T ——FWHNA (ZT—TF: =
T—TF—F) EWTH - MAREEETRADN
BEZ SR BVEE T o X T EiERL /) #924,01878
JL (ZZ2—F 1 152,154%70) mERR7E EIR

MFNER ©

ANNUAL REPORT 2010-2011 F3& 81



Z

Vdféé?'
//

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
4= A

ire MRS HRaR TR

For the year ended 31 March 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

28

(a)

(iii)

(iv)

(b)

Capital and reserves (continued)
Share capital (continued)

During the year, options were exercised to subscribe for
32,668,000 ordinary shares in the company at a consideration of
HK$3,103,460 of which HK$326,680 and HK$2,776,780 credited
to share capital and share premium account, respectively, in
accordance with policy set out in note 2(n). Further details of these
options are set out in note 27(a) to the consolidated financial

statements.

Terms of unexpired and unexercised share options at the end of

the reporting period

BE_ZT——FZA=+—HLFE CVETIIE)

28 EXKfHE (E)

(@) B (&)

(iii) FERN o BRERESITE - 43,103,460 TH KB
RE832,668,00078 A &) M9 EEAL - AR IR FE2(n) AT
BRI BR © 326,68078 7T 2,776,780/ L2 BB A

BARKORER - £EBBREFBENEHN GRS
M IMA M FE27(a) °

(iv) RIS HRERE B RRITE R B

2011 =2 ——#F 2010 —_=—Z4F

Exercise Price Number Number
Exercise period 1THEHA TEE A B
21 August 2001 to —EE—FN\A=-t+—H= HK$0.095
11 February 2011 —E——%_A+—H 0.095/8 7T - 70,140,000
9 August 2003 to —EE=F\ANHEZE HK$0.175
8 August 2012 —2——FN\AN\HR 0.175%7T 3,500,000 3,500,000
9 February 2003 to —EE=F_AAHZE HK$0.175
8 August 2012 —ET——FN\ANH 0.1757%87t 6,400,000 6,400,000
9,900,000 80,040,000

Each option entitles the holder to subscribe for one ordinary share
in the company. Further details of these options are set out in note
27 to the consolidated financial statements.

Reserves

The group

The amounts of the group’s reserves and the movements therein
are presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

82 ITE (Holdings) Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #HE-Z——&=A=+—HI-FE (LWETIIE)

28 Capital and reserves (continued)

(b)

(ii)

(0)

()

(ii)

(iii)

28 EXKf#EE ()

Reserves (continued) (b) f&E (&)
The company (if) RAR]
Share Accumulated
premium losses Total
B4 aE 23t &t
HK$/E7T HK$/E7T HK$E 7T
Balance at 1 April 2009 RZZZNFMNA—B&ER 22,722,184 (24,332,756) (1,610,572)
Repurchase of shares [B18E AR 7 (152,154) = (152,154)
Profit for the year A A - 91,846 91,846
Balance at 31 March 2010 and RZZE—ZTF=A=1+—HK
1 April 2010 T -TFNA—HEEH% 22,570,030 (24,240,910) (1,670,880)
Repurchase of shares (note 28(a)(ii)) [EIEEMD (FfsE28(a)i)) (24,018) - (24,018)
Issue of shares upon exercise of 1T{E BB T BT T
share options (note 28(a)(iii)) (Ff=E28(a)iii)) 2,776,780 = 2,776,780
Loss for the year FAEE - (88,651) (88,651)
Balance at 31 March 2011 R-ZE——4F
—A=1+—H#%&% 25,322,792 (24,329,561) 993,231
Nature and purpose of reserves () RBENMEREN
Share premium (i) Rt 3i (B

The application of the share premium account is governed by the
company’s articles of association and the Companies Law of the
Cayman Islands, which provides that the share premium account
may be applied in making distributions or paying dividends to
members, provided that immediately following the date on which
distribution or dividend is proposed to be paid, the company will
be able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business. The share premium may also be distributed in the form
of fully paid bonus shares.

Merger reserve

The group’s merger reserve represents the excess of the aggregate
of the nominal value of the share capital of the subsidiaries
acquired pursuant to the group reorganisation completed on 18
November 2000 on the nominal value of the share capital of the
company issued in exchange therefor.

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies set out in note 2(p).

(i)

(iii)

B EENBARIFASHEE R RDERAN R A
ERANRE  HREBRIFEARREREEZED K
FIRMBREE R  AEERBXREERETIHNE
o1 Bdn g (8 AT AT A BRIk SR AN BB o
174 18 71 A A BB AT BROR 2

& bt
AEENAFHEBEE  RE_TSTTF+—A+

NERINEE - AR A A AR R AR EE B R
BB ARSFERNREE -

SNEERE 5L
SNES T 5 R R B R IR B L BB I R TS R B S 3R R Y

SVEIER Z R o HEBRBEHNIE2(0) 8 5K
# o
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28

(d)

(e)

Capital and reserves (continued)
Distributability of reserves

At 31 March 2011, the company had HK$993,231 (2010: HK$Nil)
available for distribution to owners of the company.

Capital management

The group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
so that it can continue to provide returns for owners and
benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing products and services
commensurately with the level of risk and by securing access to
finance at a reasonable cost.

The group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between the higher owner returns
and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital
position, and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of
changes in economic conditions.

The group monitors its capital structure on the basis of a net debt-
to-adjusted capital ratio. For this purpose the group defines net
debt as total debt (which includes short-term borrowings and
trade and other payables) plus unaccrued proposed dividends, less
cash and cash equivalents and pledged bank deposits. Adjusted
capital comprises all components of equity less unaccrued
proposed dividends.

During the year, the group’s strategy, which was unchanged from
2010, was to maintain the net debt-to-adjusted capital ratio below
50%. In order to maintain or adjust the ratio, the group may
adjust the amount of dividends paid to owners, issue new shares,
return capital to owners, raise new debt financing or sell assets to
reduce debt.

The major financial covenant for the group’s committed banking
facilities is to maintain the consolidated tangible net worth not less
than HK$10,000,000 during the period of facilities granted. At 31
March 2011, the group had complied with the relevant financial

covenant.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Financial instruments

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises
in the normal course of the group’s business. The group is also
exposed to equity price risk arising from its financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss.

These risks are limited by the group’s financial management
policies and practices described below.

Credit risk

The group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and other
receivables. Management has a credit policy in place and the
exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

In respect of trade and other receivables, individual credit
evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit over
a certain amount. These evaluations focus on the customer’s past
history of making payments when due and current ability to pay,
and take into account information specific to the customer as well
as pertaining to the economic environment in which the customer
operates. Trade receivables are due within 45 days (2010: 60 days)
from date of billing. Normally, the group does not obtain collateral
from customers.

The group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the
individual characteristics of each customer. The default risk of
the industry and country in which customers operate also has an
influence on credit risk but to a lesser extent. At the end of the
reporting period, the group has a certain concentration of credit
risk as 22% (2010: 22%) and 59% (2010: 73%) of the total trade
receivables was due from the group’s largest customer and the five
largest customers respectively.

The maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account
of any collateral held is represented by the carrying amount of
each financial asset in the statement of financial position after
deducting any impairment allowance. Except for the financial
guarantees given by the company as set out in note 31, the group
does not provide any other guarantees which would expose the
group or the company to credit risk. The maximum exposure to
credit risk in respect of these financial guarantees at the end of
the reporting period is disclosed in note 31.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the group’s exposure
to credit risk arising from trade and other receivables are set out in
note 18.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BZE-—Z——&=A=+—HI-EE (LETIIE)

29 Financial instruments (continued) 29 @I A (&)
(b)  Liquidity risk (b) E&REBMEEE
The group’s policy is to maintain sufficient cash and cash AEBEOBEDRFERHANRE RBEESEEY - 50
equivalents or have available funding through an adequate FEARTRENAIEAREHEE  UMEEINT
amount of committed annual credit facilities from banks to meet FEKEFTENAFESZL - RAAEERA - B
its commitments over the next year in accordance with its strategic HHOR—FAE BN EES A EE S - ANEETEH
plan. In the opinion of the directors of the company, most of the HERHESKRBRARNEESRE  WHEER
borrowings that mature with one year are able to renew and the BESAMR -
group expects to have adequate sources of funding to finance the
group and manage the liquidity position.
The maturity profile of the group’s financial liabilities as at the end RBERAR  AEERESNSBENRITRE
of the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted MR
cash flows, was as follows:
The group AEH
2011 =2 ——%F
Total
contractual Within
Carrying undiscounted 1 year or
amount cash outflow on demand
ERRITE R—FR
M E{E HWEMH REEREERE
HK$#% T HK$E 7T HK$#E T
Trade and other payables FES B 5 KR H M FES RSN 2,660,015 2,660,015 2,660,015
Short-term borrowings HHEE 1,821,100 1,860,265 1,860,265
4,481,115 4,520,280 4,520,280
2010 —=—=4F
Total
contractual Within
Carrying undiscounted 1 year or
amount cash outflow on demand
BRIARITE R—FRA
MREE b s SEEKER
HK$/E7T HK$&7T HK$# 7T
Trade and other payables BN E 5 K E AR IR 2,784,987 2,784,987 2,784,987
Short-term borrowings EHEE 9,752,467 9,785,649 9,785,649
12,537,454 12,570,636 12,570,636

86 ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Financial instruments (continued) 29 SRTHA (&)
Liquidity risk (continued) (b) E&REBHERME (&)
The maturity profile of the company’'s financial liabilities as R|ER  RARMEEHNERBENRTRER
at the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual BRI
undiscounted cash flows, was as follows:
The company RA T
2011 =&2——F 2010 =2 —%F
Total Total
contractual Within contractual Within
Carrying  undiscounted 1 year or Carrying undiscounted 1 year or
amount cash outflow on demand amount cash outflow  on demand
BRRITE R—ER BHAYTH R—FRA
IREE Ben REEREER IREE Benmd SEEREER
HKS$# T HK$#& T HK$#E T HK$ATT HK$& 7T HK$ETT
Accrued charges and fEzTE A K&
other payables H A FEIRR 532,697 532,697 532,697 548,078 548,078 548,078
Interest rate risk () FIEEPR

The group’s significant interest-bearing assets are bank deposits.

The group’s interest income is dependent on changes in market

interest rates and will not have significant adverse impact on the

group’s financial position.

The group’s exposure to interest rate risk arises from its short-term

borrowings. These borrowings bear interest at rates varying with

the then prevailing market conditions.

A reasonably possible change of 100 basis points in interest rates

would have no significant impact on the group’s loss and equity

for the year.

AEBNEENEEEARRITER  AEEOF
BUIRABEKEETIS M R EE) - B H AL B F 15
A EAFIRE -

AEBNFEEEREERER
Y T35 B BT B R EA R -

EFERFREE

o
Sﬁgit

MEI0EERHNSIE A LB IS HAEE K
AABAFEHNBENERELAEATE -
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29

(d)

Financial instruments (continued)
Currency risk

The group’s business transactions, assets and liabilities are
principally denominated in HK$, RMB, MOP and US$. The group
has minimal exposure to currency risk as the foreign exchange rate
of HK$ is close to MOP and HK$ is pegged with US$. The group
currently does not have a currency hedging policy in respect of
currency debt. The group will monitor its currency exposure closely
and will consider hedging significant currency exposure should the
need arise.

The following table details the group’s exposure at the end of the
reporting period to currency risk arising from recognised assets
or liabilities denominated in a currency other than the functional
currency of the entity to which they relate.

29

(d)

BE_ZT——FZA=+—HLFE CVETIIE)

TRT A (&)
B ERE

HRAEERBOERRS  BERBEHEIEN
B ARK RPIERETTINE - EAZ S
PE R A ol 7T 5 R 3 B P B MBS T
EXTHMRBBRER - MAKEMAZNEERE RS
e AEBENEBRRASIAGEINERR (WF)
HAKERABEEANBRER - £TINERRE
B REBSERBEREIERRN - INEFER
VAN 32 BA & KO R SNE LB

7K f5 B0 54 225 B 5K e A A 42 D B 40 T A M
SIS HE 2 B MR R A B R B B PR E R AR
T :

Assets Liabilities
EE =N
2011 =F——F 2010 =Z—=F 2011 =F——F 2010 =F—ZF
HKS$#E T HK$B7T HK$#E T HK$& 7T
RMB ARHEE 511,431 76,256 - (161,491)
MOP SHLP 42,258 435,766 - (62,033)
us$ =TT 58,964 14,792 - (11,583)

A reasonably possible change of 1% in exchange rates between
RMB to HK$, MOP to HK$ and US$ to HK$ would have no
significant impact on the group’s loss and equity for the year.

ITE (Holdings) Limited

ARKEETT  RFIRE BB T KTt EE T 2 REE
EE1%a BENEHANEERARANFABER
RIS AEATE
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #HE-Z——&=A=+—HI-FE (LWETIIE)

Financial instruments (continued) 29 @I HA (&)
Equity price risk (e) KERMR
The group’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are AEENZBEZRATEREN R EEHTRN
measured at fair value at end of each reporting period. Therefore, HMERUAAFERE - WAEEE fmEERER
the group is exposed to equity price risk. The directors manage this %o MHRERR  EFERREFHEMNETH
exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investments with difference BRI EHE -
risk profiles.
At 31 March 2011, if the market price of the listed equity RZZE——F=A=+—H WEmSEKLA
securities had increased by 10% with all other variables held 10% @ MEMAZEERRFTE  NEERRTE
constant, the group’s (loss)/profit after tax would have been e (BB Sw R 78,7755 T (=
HK$78,775 (2010: HKS$Nil) lower/higher. If the market price of T—2F: THL)  METHERTEKI0%
the listed equity securities had decreased by 10% with all other mMEMAZEZRRFTE  AEENRBTLLE
variables held constant, the group’s (loss)/profit after tax would (B518), = FigE M, @A 78,7758 L (ZT—F
have been HK$78,775 (2010: Nil) higher/lower. F:TET) °
Categories of financial instruments () ==WMIANESE
2011 =2 ——F 2010 =T —TF
HK$# T HK$E 7T
The group A5 HE
Financial assets SREE
Loan and receivables R R ERIRR
(including cash and bank balances) (BIER e RIRTES) 12,123,796 21,931,545
Fair value through profit or loss FHiRBERIZATE
(held for trading) (FEEE) 943,410 -
Financial liabilities SRIAE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost BHEKANEREE (4,881,115) (12,537,454)
The company A2 7]
Financial assets SRIEE
Loan and receivables B FE IR
(including cash and bank balances) (BIERE RIRITEES) 6,718,684 3,739,808
Financial liabilities TRISE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost BN AN S RBE (532,697) (548,078)
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29

(9

30

Financial instruments (continued)
Fair values

All financial instruments are carried at amounts not materially
different from their fair values as at 31 March 2011 and 2010.

The carrying value of financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss are measured at level 1 defined in HKFRS 7, using quoted
prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical financial

instruments.
Commitments

At 31 March 2011, the total future minimum lease payments

under non-cancellable operating leases are payable as follows:

29

(9)

30

BE_ZT——FZA=+—HLFE CVETIIE)

E@MITA (&)
AF{E

AEERTAMAKRSEEEAR _T——FE %
—ZEF=A=+—HNRFEEEATM -

FRBERATENSREERAERM GRS E
AIF7RE—R 2 DERERS R TANER
M CREHE) HME

AiE
R-T——#=A=+—0 AREREEHNE

A HEEEREM AR BENHRERER
BT

The group
rEHE
2011 =B ——#& 2010 —T—FT4F
HKS$#E T HK$E 7T
Within 1 year —FRN 1,580,710 1,662,023
After 1 year but within 5 years —FRAFN 477,626 1,961,489
2,058,336 3,623,512

The group is the lessee in respect of a number of properties and
items of office equipment held under operating leases. The leases
typically run for a period of 1 year to 5 years (2010: 1 year to
5 years) with an option to renew the lease when all terms are
renegotiated. None of the leases includes contingent rentals.

The group and the company did not have any other significant
capital and financial commitments as at 31 March 2011 (2010:
Nil).

ITE (Holdings) Limited

AEEAEETR2MENMERRETRES - #
WE—RE—FERF (ZZ2—2F : —FE0F)
I AR B GRA T E R o 2FHEOLLE
EfHAEE

REERARAR-_ZE——F=A=+—HILEE
AIERNERRGEEE (ZE—FF : &) -
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #HE-Z——&=A=+—HI-FE (LWETIIE)

Contingent liabilities 31

At 31 March 2011, the company has issued corporate guarantees
to banks in respect of banking facilities granted to certain wholly
owned subsidiaries. The directors of the company do not consider
it probable that a claim will be made against the company under
any of the guarantees. The maximum liability of the company at
the end of the reporting period under the corporate guarantees
issued is the banking facilities of approximately HK$1 million
(2010: HK$10 million) drawn down by the subsidiaries at that
date.

Material related party transactions 32
Key management personnel remuneration (a)
Remuneration for key management personnel of the group,
represents amounts paid to the company’s directors as disclosed in

note 8.

Provision of personal guarantees (b)
Two (2010: two) directors of the company have provided personal
guarantees to the extent of approximately HK$9 million (2010:

HK$17 million) to the group in relation to general banking facilities
granted to the group (note 24(b)).

HREE

RZZE——F=A=+—8 ' FRARET2E
MBARMRITRERHEEER AARESL
TRAARRBAEEHSEMNERERORE
MARABRBERAREMBARRITREN D
ERT&e A {EH1,000,00087T (ZF—ZF4 :
10,000,00077T) ©

ERBEALXRS
TEEBEASHE
AREEBERARMSADL AR AEEHMS
TRH SR -

RAEBAER
ARROME (ZE—FF : MA) EEHALE

WETRITHE (FisE24(b)) =4 A20499,000,000
BT (ZZE—Z4 : 17,000,000/67C) HIEAFER -
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33

(a)

(b)

(o)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The management had made the following estimates and
assumptions in the process of applying the group’s accounting
policies, which are described in note 2, that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets
and liabilities as discussed below.

Revenue and profit recognition

The group estimates the percentage of completion of the service
contracts by reference to the proportion that contract costs
incurred for work performed to date to the estimated total costs
for the contracts. When the final cost incurred by the group
is different from the amounts that were initially budgeted,
such differences will impact the revenue and the profit or loss
recognised in the period in which such determination is made.
Budgeted costs of each project will be reviewed periodically and
revised accordingly where significant variances are noted during

the revision.
Fixed assets and depreciation

The group determines the estimated useful lives and related
depreciation charges for the group’s fixed assets. This estimate
is based on the historical experience of the actual useful lives of
fixed assets of a similar nature and function.

Impairment on trade and other receivables

The policy for impairment on trade and other receivables of the
group is based on the evaluation of collectability and ageing
analysis of accounts and on management’s judgement. A
considerable amount of judgement is required in assessing the
ultimate realisation of these receivables, including the current
creditworthiness and the past collection history of each customer.
If the financial conditions of customers of the group were to
deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make
payments, additional impairment adjustments may be required.

ITE (Holdings) Limited

33

(a)

(b)

(c)

BE_ZT——FZA=+—HLFE CVETIIE)

CREEEPSE S VESE -2

ERAAEENSFTRER (FARMNE2) 82 E
BEL T IIMEE RAE - RAFGEEREERAE
IREEE L KIRE B -

W 25 K% g A HE AR

AEESEEHABHRBENMELEN SRR
HIRES KRR EENO L AL RS ONTXE
D o HEARBEMELNZREKRARIHARED
HENE - BEREEAFEELREHENEER
WARIEE - %18 B WA KA R E 225 R
ERTHEHIREAZE) - AISELER -

BEEERITE

AEBREAEBEEEEEN G ERHREH
FEER  MELAHEREEERREZRENE
BRINANEEEENERAERBHmE -

FEW E 5 I H Ath FE WUIR R A RUE

AEEERE S FE bR KIRKEBRERRERE
W R RE TG - AR ERENHE - £ EESR
BEPNEEERRBAERFRCHESTE—ERZE
HHIET - A ARERPRM B ERME L HE
NFREENRISSRF - HE 7R 2HINRE °
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

Write-down of inventories

A write-down of inventories is made based on the ageing and
estimated net realisable value of inventories. The assessment of the
write-down amount involves judgement and estimates. Where the
actual outcome in future is different from the original estimate,
such difference will impact the carrying value of inventories and
the write-down amount charge/reverse in the period in which such
estimate has been changed.

Deferred tax

Estimating the amount for deferred tax assets arising from tax
losses requires a process that involves forecasting future years’
taxable income and assessing the group’s ability to utilise tax
benefits through future earnings. Where the actual future profits
generated are more or less than expected, a recognition or reversal
of the deferred tax assets may arise, which would be recognised
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
period in which such a recognition or reversal takes place. While
the current operations indicate that the unused tax losses cannot
be utilised in the future, any changes in assumptions, estimates
and tax regulations can affect the recoverability of this deferred
tax asset.
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HETHBRENEERR (&)

FERE

FEHERBIRE R AT S RFE - T ER
5 A R fh et - EARRERGSRERRBE G
BER  AREEFERMGEARZNHREA - 25
TEFENREAERFENFERIPE -

EER IR

HEANEBEELANECHBEEESHBTEL
B NI R REF ) R UNA R 5 H A R EE
BARREFIH ABIATIZEARE IV IBIZ © AL
BRGNS RSERTES - BIF]sEE £ RER
BB EWRR R - T A% i 2 ok 18 [0 8 1 il 8 o B8
m AR HRELG S 2ERERER - WHEEE
BRAEANTIARE AR N AR A - BHERR
R AT RBRBRINES T EZELEHAE
ERY AT E 1 o
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34

Possible impact of new and revised
standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effective for the year ended 31
March 2011

Up to the date of issue of the consolidated financial statements,
the HKICPA has issued a number of amendments on standards
and interpretations and one new standard which are not yet
effective for the year ended 31 March 2011 and which have not
been adopted in the consolidated financial statements. These
include the following which may be relevant to the group.
HKFRSs (Amendments) Improvements to HKFRSs issued
in 2010 2
HKFRS 7 (Amendments) Disclosures — Transfers of
financial assets *
HKFRS 9 Financial instruments ©
HKAS 12 (Amendments) Deterred tax: Recovery of
underlying assets °
HKAS 24 (Revised 2009) Related party disclosures 3
HK(IFRIC)-Int 14

(Amendments)

Prepayments of a minimum

funding requirement 3

HK(IFRIC)-Int 19 Extinguishing financial liabilities

with equity instruments '

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010 or 1
January 2011, as appropriate

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012

o U b~ W

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013

The group is assessing the impact of these amendments on
standards and interpretations and new standards and has so far
concluded that they are not in a position to state whether their
adoption will have a significant impact on the group’s results of
operations and financial position.

94 ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Five Year Sumg{rﬁwﬁa&g
ARGy

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LAZSTTHIE)

2010/11 2009/10 2008/09 2007/08 2006/07
“E2-F2-——-f —TTNE-TF —TZN\RTNF —ETLETN\F —TTRETLHE
HKSB T HK$BTT HK%E HK$B T HK$ BT

Results #i2
Turnover L] 23,417,680 54,935,393 77,488,677 77,492,591 66,829,725
(Loss)/profit from operations i (E51R) /Al (3,333,480) 643,727 2,299,518 2,404,538 792,233
Finance costs RERA (86,547) (397,161) (799,671) (1,200,913) (1,440,191)
Gain on disposal of HEHEESREE

available-for-sale financial assets - = — - 1,825,850
(Loss)/profit before taxation BiA (B518), /& F (3,420,027) 246,566 1,499,847 1,203,625 1,177,892
Income tax 5t (12,047) (42,600) (185,000) (118,015) (220,466)
(Loss)/profit for the year AREEEA

attributable to owners JEIEER

of the company (B18),/ %7 (3,432,074) 203,966 1,314,847 1,085,610 957,426
Assets and liabilities BERERE
Fixed assets EE A& 85,440 175,823 372,042 659,642 792,989
Available-for-sale financial assets ~ FAItHELREE - - - 1,653,600 1,487,900
Net current assets RBEEFE 11,297,644 11,602,266 11,376,755 8,328,653 6,864,729
Net assets AEFE 11,383,084 11,778,089 11,748,797 10,641,895 9,145,618
(Loss)/earnings per share & (518),/ 287
Basic (HK cents) ﬁ$ G (0.38) 0.02 0.15 0.12 0.1
Diluted (HK cents) B (L) (0.38) 0.02 NATER 0.12 N/ATNEF
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